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I. Summary 

[1] Health Canada conducts medical assessments of Canadian International Development 

Agency employees seeking postings in other countries. Health Canada has developed medical 

evaluation guidelines specific to the assessment of employees seeking a posting in Afghanistan. 

Pursuant to these Afghanistan Guidelines, under the heading “Absolute medical requirements”, 

employees do not meet the medical requirements for posting if they have a medical condition 

that would likely lead to a life-threatening medical emergency if access to prescribed medication 

and/or other treatment is interrupted for a short period of time. On this basis, the complainant 

alleges that her employer, the Canadian International Development Agency, engaged in a 

discriminatory practice when it decided that she was not suitable for a job posting in Afghanistan 

due to the fact that she had a condition of type 1 diabetes mellitus. The complainant also alleges 

that Health Canada engaged in a discriminatory practice when it recommended to her employer, 

Canadian International Development Agency that she not be posted to Afghanistan because of 

her diabetic condition. She also alleges that her employer did not use its discretionary power to 

decide not to follow Health Canada’s recommendation. 

[2] The Afghanistan Guidelines do not reflect equality between all members of society. 

Although the guidelines are meant to be instructive and informative, their wording suggests 

mandatory medical requirements without consideration of the individualized circumstances of 

each person. The process by which Health Canada assessed and arrived at its recommendation, 

influenced as it was by the Afghanistan Guidelines, failed to consider the inherent worth and 

dignity of the complainant. The application of these guidelines to the complainant resulted in her 

being discriminated against in the course of her medical assessment. Health Canada did not 

provide sufficient evidence that its conduct was non-discriminatory. Therefore, the complainant 

suffered adverse differentiation on the basis of her disability by the wording and application of 

the Afghanistan Guidelines by Health Canada. 

[3] The evidence indicates that it would pose an undue hardship for the Canadian 

International Development Agency to accommodate the complainant in Afghanistan. There are 
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serious health and safety risks present for Canadians working in Afghanistan and these risks 

frequently materialize. It is not only the complainant who bears these risks, but also members of 

the Canadian Forces and other foreign military personnel. Evidence was lead that the 

recommendations made by the third independent endocrinologist who assessed the complainant, 

to accommodate her in Afghanistan could not be enforced at all times and could likely result in 

putting herself and other CIDA employees in danger. Medical services and facilities are limited 

including bed space, and therefore, must be preserved for the treatment of troops, injured 

Afghani civilians and unpredictable emergencies that impact all civilians posted in Afghanistan. 

In the requirements to accomplish the mission in Afghanistan, pre-deployment screening and 

medical assessments of employees is warranted and the high standard for safety reasons is 

justifiable but, should be made in accordance with human rights principles and, on a case by 

case, individualized approach. Furthermore, Canadian International Development Agency has 

breached its duty to explore all reasonable accommodation measures for the complainant. It had 

a duty to obtain all relevant information about its employee’s disability and seriously consider 

how the complainant could be accommodated. It did not lead sufficient evidence that had 

explored all reasonable accommodation measures. 

[4] Therefore, both complaints are substantiated under section 7 (b) of the CHRA against 

Health Canada and under sections 7 and 10 of the CHRA against CIDA; and the Tribunal orders 

appropriate remedial action to eliminate these discriminatory practices. 

II. Background and Complaints 

[5] There is a war in Afghanistan. Combat is continuous, complex and dangerous. At the 

time of these complaints, Canada was one of 41 countries participating in the International 

Security Assistance Force (ISAF), a North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) led formation 
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that operates in Afghanistan under the authority of the United Nations (UN).1 The UN also 

operates the United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan (UNAMA), a political mission 

established at the request of the Government of Afghanistan to assist it and the people of 

Afghanistan in laying the foundations for sustainable peace and development2. The Political 

Affairs Division at UNAMA supports political outreach, conflict resolution, disarmament and 

regional cooperation. The political mandate of UNAMA supported the implementation of the 

institutional and political objectives of the Bonn Agreement, signed in November 2001, as well 

as a range of peace-building tasks3. 

[6] Canada has maintained a presence in Afghanistan since 2001. Canada has participated at 

many levels in the peacekeeping, security and reconstruction efforts within the country. The 

situation in Afghanistan calls for strong international cooperation. This international cooperation 

comes from both military personnel and civilian personnel as reconstruction efforts are often 

overseen by both military and civilian organizations. At the time of these complaints, all 

Canadian civilians serving in Kandahar performed their duties under the direction of the 

Representative of Canada in Kandahar (RoCk), who works under the leadership of the Canadian 

Ambassador in Kabul.4 In Canada, the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) is 

the principal organization responsible for providing aid to developing countries. CIDA’s 

mandate is to manage Canada’s support, aid and resources to developing countries such as 

Afghanistan.  

                                                 

1 Government of Canada, Canadian Forces Operations, online: Canada’s Engagement in Afghanistan 
<http://www.afghanistan.gc.ca/canada-afghanistan/approach-approche/cfo-ofc.aspx?lang=eng>. 
2 United Nations, Mandate, online: The United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan 
<http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx?tabid=1742>. 
3 United Nations, Political Affairs, online: The United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan 
<http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx?tabid=1752>. 
4 Government of Canada, Representative of Canada in Kandahar, online: Canada’s Engagement in 
Afghanistan<http://www.afghanistan.gc.ca/canada-afghanistan/kandahar/represent.aspx?lang=eng>. 

http://www.afghanistan.gc.ca/canada-afghanistan/approach-approche/cfo-ofc.aspx?lang=eng
http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx?tabid=1742
http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx?tabid=1752
http://www.afghanistan.gc.ca/canada-afghanistan/kandahar/represent.aspx?lang=eng
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[7] This is part of the context in which the events giving rise to the present complaints 

occurred. The complainant, Ms. Bronwyn Cruden, filed two complaints with the Canadian 

Human Rights Commission (the Commission) on November 8, 2008. First, the complaint alleges 

that her employer, CIDA, engaged in a discriminatory practice within the meaning of sections 7 

and 10 of the Canadian Human Rights Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. H-6 (the CHRA) when it decided that 

she was not suitable for a job posting in Afghanistan due to her condition of type 1 diabetes. The 

second complaint alleged that Health Canada (HC) engaged in a discriminatory practice within 

the meaning of s. 5 of the CHRA when it recommended to CIDA that she not be posted to 

Afghanistan because of her diabetic condition. The complaint against HC was subsequently 

amended at the hearing, by consent of the parties, to include sections 7 and 10 of the CHRA. On 

March 18, 2010, pursuant to paragraph 44(3)(a) of the CHRA, the Commission requested that the 

Canadian Human Rights Tribunal (the Tribunal) inquire into both complaints. The complaints 

were consolidated as they involve substantially the same issues of fact and law. The Commission 

participated at the hearing that took place from January 26 to February 4, 2011, representing the 

public interest in the proceedings. 

III. Facts 

[8] After carefully reviewing all the evidence provided by the parties including the Agreed 

Statement of facts my findings of fact are the following:  

The complainant is a CIDA employee who currently works at their Gatineau 
headquarters. From approximately August 6, 2007 to September 7, 2007 the 
complainant was on temporary duty assignment at the Canadian Embassy in 
Kabul, Afghanistan. She was not subjected to a pre-deployment medical 
assessment prior to departure, as at that time, CIDA’s policy did not require a 
medical assessment of employees being posted for less than one year. 

[9] In January 2008, the complainant applied for a number of one year postings in 

Afghanistan that CIDA was to make available in the near future. She applied for the position of 

"Director of Kandahar" and for other development officer positions. 



5 

[10] On January 20, 2008, the complainant was deployed a second time to Afghanistan, this 

time in Kandahar, as part of the Provincial Reconstruction Team (PRT). This deployment was to 

last until February 25, 2008. 

[11] During the early morning of February 11, 2008, the complainant had a hypoglycaemic 

“incident” while she was sleeping. A co-worker in the adjoining room overheard her making 

noises and movements in her sleep, tried to wake her up and when she wasn’t successful, called a 

Canadian Forces Medical Officer, who administrated intravenous glucose to the complainant. 

The complainant was subsequently released after treatment. Later on that day, the complainant 

was referred to an internal medicine consultant at the Kandahar Airfield (KAF) who strongly 

recommended that the complainant be repatriated to Canada. The complainant disagreed with the 

internal medicine consultant’s recommendation and wished to stay on in Afghanistan to 

complete her temporary duty assignment. CIDA chose to end the complainant’s temporary duty 

assignment and promptly returned her to Canada. 

[12] On February 13, 2008, Michael Collins (Director, Management Services CIDA) sent an 

email to the complainant and some of her colleagues within the Afghanistan Task Force (ATF) 

to seek if they were interested in field postings in Afghanistan. Everyone who received this email 

has since been posted to Afghanistan except the complainant. 

[13] Upon her return to Canada, the complainant obtained a letter of support from her treating 

endocrinologist, Dr. Amel Arnaout. The letter dated February 21, 2008, supports the 

complainant’s efforts to return to work in Afghanistan. Dr. Arnaout explains that the 

complainant was assessed on February 18 2008, and that she "is mentally and physically capable 

of continuing her work in Afghanistan...’’. By e-mail dated February 22, 2008, Marion Parry 

(Manager, Mobility and Career Programs, CIDA) requested that the complainant be medically 

assessed in order to ascertain whether or not she could continue her temporary duty assignment 

and to determine her fitness for posting due to her expressed interest in a formal one-year 

posting. 
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[14] In an email dated February 26, 2008 to CIDA, Major Robin Thurlow (Canadian 

Expeditionary Force Command, JHSS) stated that he was concerned with the fact that no pre-

deployment medical screening was conducted for persons deploying to Afghanistan for less than 

one year. He went on to request support in ensuring that screening be conducted for all personnel 

being sent to Afghanistan. CIDA subsequently changed its practices to require that all employees 

being sent to Afghanistan for any period of time undergo a pre-deployment medical screening. 

[15] Pursuant to Foreign Service Directive 9 Medical and Dental Examinations (FSD9) (see 

FSD9 at Appendix #1), which is published by the National Joint Council, HC conducts medical 

assessments of CIDA employees seeking postings in other countries. FSD9 also provides a 

process by which these assessments are to take place. Both HC and CIDA have to consider 

FSD9. In performing medical assessments, HC has developed and publishes the Occupational 

Health Assessment Guide (OHAG), which is intended to help guide the medical examiner in 

making an assessment (see section 1 of the OHAG at Appendix #2). Shortly after 

Major Thurlow’s February 2008 email indicating that medical assessments should be done for all 

postings to Afghanistan, HC developed the Medical Evaluation Guidelines for Posting, 

Temporary Duty or Travel to Afghanistan (Hardship Post level 5 with Hostility Bonus) (the 

Afghanistan Guidelines) (see Afghanistan Guidelines at Appendix #3). Under the heading 

“Absolute medical requirements”, the Afghanistan Guidelines state: 

Employees do not meet the medical requirements for assignment or posting: [..] If 
they have a medical condition that would likely lead to a life-threatening medical 
emergency if access to prescribed medication and/or other treatment is interrupted 
for a short period of time.  

[16] On March 18, 2008, the complainant met with Dr. Maureen Peggy Baxter (Occupational 

Health Medical Officer (OHMO) with HC’s Workplace Health and Public Safety Program 

WHPSP) Health Clinic (Clinic) to determine if the complainant was a suitable candidate for a 

position in Afghanistan. The complainant provided Dr. Baxter with past health records and a 

copy of Dr. Arnaout’s letter dated February 21, 2008. Following this medical assessment, on 

April 9, 2008, Dr. Baxter consulted with some of her fellow OHMO at the Clinic. They 
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unanimously agreed on a recommendation that the complainant was not medically fit to be 

posted to Kabul. Dr. Eva Callary and Dr. Lloyd-Jones were part of the discussion and did not 

seek an independent third opinion under s. 9.05(a) of FSD9 before reaching this decision. That 

same day, Dr. Baxter indicated by letter to Clement Bedard (Program Assistant, Assignments 

Management Centre, CIDA) that in light of the fact that the complainant’s medical condition is 

chronic in nature and there was a risk of destabilization, she could not be recommended for 

deployment to Afghanistan because she required sophisticated care and treatment not available at 

this post. Dr. Baxter reported however, that Dr. Arnaout had submitted information indicating 

the complainant’s current condition is stable. Dr. Baxter’s letter was not sent to the complainant 

at that moment nor did HC advise her of their recommendation they made to CIDA. 

[17] Upon receipt of this recommendation from HC, CIDA decided that it would not send the 

complainant to Afghanistan and did not make further inquiries of Dr. Baxter or Dr. Arnaout or 

pursuant to s. 9.05 (b) of FSD9 to seek out an independent third medical opinion. 

[18] On April 10, 2008, the complainant received a letter from Ms. Parry informing her that 

she had not been selected for the position of “Director Kandahar”. Ms. Parry did not inform the 

complainant on the outcome of the other applications for development officers’ postings to 

which she had also applied. 

[19] Around April 15 or 16, 2008, the complainant had a conversation with Michael Collins 

who told her that HC had recommended against returning or posting her to Afghanistan. 

[20] The complainant attempted to gather information from HC. The complainant and 

Dr. Baxter exchanged emails and had a telephone conversation. On April 17, 2008, the 

complainant learned from Dr. Baxter that while HC had the responsibility to provide 

recommendations based on health assessments, all decisions concerning the deployment of 

employees rested with CIDA. The complainant forwarded Dr. Baxter’s email to Michael Collins 

(Director, Management Services, CIDA) and asked if it would exercise its discretion to allow her 
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to go to Afghanistan. No one from CIDA replied to this email. On April 21, 2008, the 

complainant wrote to Dr. Baxter to ask if HC would provide a list of countries to which it would 

not recommend for posting. On April 23, 2008, Dr. Baxter wrote back to say that such a list did 

not exist and that in general, higher hardship levels are less likely to have suitable medical 

services available and suggested the complainant short list some of the countries she was 

interested in, and ask her department to send a fitness request. 

[21] On June 2, 2008, the complainant wrote and questioned Danica Shimbashi (Director 

General, Human Resources, CIDA) in order to find out if there had ever been a situation where 

CIDA did not follow a HC recommendation in the past. The complainant also asked if CIDA 

would ask for an advance fitness assessment for its postings. 

[22] On June 20, 2008, as a response, Ms. Parry who had received the request forwarded from 

Ms. Shimbashi to her, replied to the complainant directly and advised her that HC is the only 

occupational health body responsible for medical assessments. Ms. Parry said she must advise 

management to be guided at all times by HC’s determination since CIDA’s human resources 

staff and managers are not in any position to re-evaluate a medical opinion.  Furthermore, CIDA 

informed the complainant that HC’s medical assessments were only valid for a period of six 

months being post-specific and that CIDA could not authorize evaluations now for possible 

future postings. Ms. Parry suggested to the complainant to follow-up with Dr. Baxter to see 

which levels of hardship could reasonably be expected to have the necessary medical capacity to 

respond to her health condition. 

[23] On August 26, 2008, Mr. Wallace, from CIDA, wrote a letter to the complainant saying 

that HC had indicated a willingness to review countries where posting may be possible with her 

condition and that she could contact Dr. Eva Callary (Medical officer in charge, Occupational 

Health Clinic, WHPSP, HC) in this regard. 
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[24] On September 25, 2008, the complainant met with Dr. Eva Callary and she provided a list 

of 19 countries that were expected to have postings for 2009 to the complainant. During this 

meeting, Dr. Callary informed the complainant that it was possible to request an internal review 

of her circumstances with HC’s Medical Advisory Committee (HC-MAC) this was the first time 

the complainant was made aware of such a possibility.  

[25] On October 3, 2008, Dr. Callary, via email, assured the complainant that HC would 

respect the decision of the HC-MAC whatever it may be. 

[26] On November 28, 2008, Dr. Baxter responded to the complainant concerning the list of 

19 countries that Dr. Callary provided previously. HC found that of the 19 countries, 5 were 

considered suitable, 5 were considered unsuitable, and 3 were listed as “missions with concerns” 

which would require individual assessment. For the remaining six missions, Dr. Baxter said that 

insufficient information had been received from the responsible regional medical officers and 

that an addendum would follow when it received further information. No further addendum was 

delivered. 

[27] The same day, Dr. Arnaout wrote a letter of assessment for the complainant  and stated 

she considered the complainant being optimally managed in her diabetes and hoped this letter 

would help in her appeal process concerning postings in Afghanistan. The complainant sent a 

written submission to the HC-MAC to review her medical situation. 

[28] On January 16, 2009 the HC-MAC rendered its recommendation and sent a letter to 

Dr. Baxter to this effect. It asked the complainant to undergo a medical examination with an 

independent medical endocrinologist, including a review of her history, clinical status and 

detailed reports on medical conditions in Afghanistan. The HC-MAC further said that if the 

independent medical endocrinologist was of the opinion that a posting to Afghanistan was not at 

risk to her or others that it would sign off on her case as meeting the medical requirements for 

this posting. However, if the independent medical endocrinologist was of the opinion that the 
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posting was medically inadvisable, the original recommendation would stand. Dr. Baxter sent a 

copy of the HC-MAC decision to the complainant on January 30, 2009. 

[29] On February 15, 2009, the complainant informed HC that she would be willing to go 

through the medical exam towards midsummer 2009. 

[30] On September 22, 2009 the complainant was examined by Dr. Hugues Beauregard, an 

independent endocrinologist in Montreal selected by an outside company (Compremed Canada 

Inc.). Dr. Joanne Lloyd-Jones (OHMO, HC) had sent Dr. Beauregard the complainant’s history, 

described the available medical facilities in Afghanistan, and identified the questions that HC 

wanted Dr. Beauregard to answer. In his preliminary report dated September 23, 2009, 

Dr. Beauregard considered the complainant capable to adapt to harsh working conditions and 

considering her knowledge in the management of her diabetes, she should be given permission to 

accept a posting to Afghanistan. In his report dated September 29, 2009, Dr. Beauregard, 

classified the complainant as a well informed, organized and a motivated patient. According to 

Dr. Beauregard, the complainant faced exposure to health risks slightly more elevated than non-

diabetics even though she effectively managed her condition of type 1 diabetes. Dr. Beauregard 

was of the opinion that the complainant was fit for deployment to Afghanistan due to the fact 

that the health risks could be reduced to, what he termed as, an ‘acceptable level’ so long as she 

could bring the equipment she needed, she was fit to work without restrictions at Kabul, KAF, 

PRT. Pursuant to Dr. Beauregard’s suggestion, the complainant underwent a cardiac stress test 

and a psychological assessment, to examine her capacity to handle stress associated with conflict 

zones. She was deemed psychologically fit for full-time work and eventual Afghanistan posting. 

The complainant gave copies of Dr. Beauregard’s report to various CIDA officials in 

October 2009, including her immediate supervisor Dave Metcalfe and Amy Baker (Chief of 

Staff, President’s Office, CIDA) and Joanne Marquis (Human Resources, CIDA). 

[31] On November 5, 2009, HC asked Dr. Beauregard to clarify the content of his medical 

report taking into consideration the current Afghanistan Guidelines. Dr. Lloyd-Jones, wrote to 
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Clement Bedard letting him know she had received information from Dr. Beauregard but was 

seeking clarification. 

[32] On November 19, 2009, Dr. Beauregard responded to Dr. Lloyd-Jones’s request for 

clarification. He wrote that the complainant would be deemed unfit by HC’s "absolute medical 

requirement" that no employee "...have a medical condition that would likely lead to a life-

threatening medical emergency if access to prescribed medication and/or other treatment is 

interrupted for a short period of time" (see Afghanistan Guidelines at Appendix #3). However, 

Dr. Beauregard remained of the view that the complainant could still be deployed since she could 

manage her diabetes in the prevailing conditions in order to bring any risk within acceptable 

levels. 

[33] The same day, Dr. Lloyd-Jones wrote again to Mr. Bedard. In her letter, she stated that 

Dr. Beauregard had concluded that the complainant should be allowed to go to Kabul, the KAF 

or PRT in Kandahar. Dr. Lloyd-Jones indicated that his recommendation would change if he 

were to follow the wording contained in the Current HC Afghanistan guidelines. 

[34] Dr. Lloyd-Jones also asked Dr. Beauregard for clarification concerning implications for 

travel to remote areas. On November 24, 2009, Dr. Beauregard clarified that the risk of traveling 

was acceptable, so long as the complainant could have extra food and insulin to carry with her. 

Dr. Beauregard concluded saying he could not comment on the risks inherent to the political 

instability in the area. Dr. Lloyd-Jones passed this information on to Mr. Bedard in a letter dated 

December 7, 2009. 

[35] On December 9, 2009, France Genest (Director, Human Ressources Operations, CIDA) 

wrote a letter to Dr. Lloyd-Jones in which she asked her to confirm CIDA’s understanding that 

HC’s initial recommendation remained unchanged and if a further medical assessment would be 

required in connection with the complainant’s application to be posted to Afghanistan as part of 

the 2010 assignment exercise. 
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[36] On December 16, 2009, Dr. Lloyd-Jones informed Ms. Genest that Dr. Beauregard 

concluded that the complainant did not meet the absolute medical requirements of the 

Afghanistan Guidelines. Dr. Lloyd-Jones added that Dr. Beauregard was of the view that the 

complainant could work and travel in Afghanistan, if she (i) has access to medication, testing 

equipment and backup supplies at all times, (ii) lives and sleep in a room with a person aware of 

her condition, and (iii) has extra food and medication for travel. She concluded in saying that the 

final decision whether or not to post the complainant was CIDA’s decision so as the decision to 

seek another medical assessment in the absence of any compelling new medical factors. 

[37] On January 11, 2010 the complainant was informed by Bob Johnston (Director General 

of the Afghanistan Task Force CIDA) that, in light of the information it received from HC, no 

further consideration would be given to posting her to Afghanistan unless there was a change to 

her medical condition. 

IV. Type I Diabetes 

[38] The Complainant was diagnosed with type 1 diabetes mellitus at age 10 and has 

undergone different treatments over the course of her life. Type 1 diabetes is a condition 

whereby the pancreas no longer produces insulin; as a result, the complainant is insulin-

dependent. She must monitor her glucose levels and is on insulin therapy. The complainant often 

uses an insulin pump and a sensor to assist her in maintaining her blood sugar levels at normal 

range. 

[39] Insulin therapy is required for the survival of persons with type 1 diabetes. There are 

different kinds of insulin and also different methods for insulin intake. One option is to take 

insulin with a syringe or pen as required. Another option is to use an insulin pump, which is a 

portable, battery-operated, device that is programmed to deliver insulin 24 hours per day through 

a small catheter under the skin. 
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[40] Regular monitoring of blood sugars is also required for persons with type 1 diabetes. The 

level of sugar in the blood can be affected by a number of factors, including the administration of 

insulin, food intake, physical exercise; stress levels and inter current illness. Persons with type 1 

diabetes are at risk of short and long term complications, which can include kidney or renal 

disease (diabetic nephropathy), eye disease (diabetic retinopathy), nerve damage (diabetic 

neuropathy) or other end organ disease. 

[41] Individuals with type 1 diabetes are also at risk of suffering from hypoglycaemia and 

hyperglycaemia. Hypoglycaemia occurs when the blood sugar is too low. This occurs when the 

person with diabetes does not consume enough nourishment in a timely fashion or takes too 

much insulin, causing the sugar in the blood to be consumed more rapidly than anticipated. The 

symptoms of hypoglycaemia range from hunger, anxiety, shakiness, sweating, and irritability. If 

left untreated, symptoms may progress to confusion, loss of consciousness, seizures and possibly 

death. A person that experiences a severe hypoglycaemic reaction resulting in cognitive function 

deterioration, convulsion and coma would need help from a third party to help them ingest 

sugars, to provide an injection of glucagon (a hormone that increases the blood sugar level) or to 

administer intravenous glucose. Intravenous glucose cannot be administered by a person with no 

medical qualifications, for example, a qualified person to administer intravenous glucose would 

be a medical technician, a nurse or a doctor. However, anyone can receive training to give a 

glucagon injection. In certain instances, hypoglycaemic unawareness occurs whereby the early 

signs of hypoglycaemia go unnoticed or are absent. Severe hypoglycaemic events increase with 

age. Also, the more a person experiences them, the more vulnerable that person is to 

experiencing another severe hypoglycaemic event in the future. 

[42] Hyperglycaemia is another complication that can result from type 1 diabetes. It occurs 

when a person’s blood sugar level becomes too high. Hyperglycaemia can be caused by 

numerous factors, including excessive consumption of food or sugar, infection, trauma, increased 

stress, and failing to take enough insulin in a timely fashion. Symptoms of hyperglycaemia can 

include hunger, excessive thirst, frequent urination, blurred vision or fatigue. Most of the time a 
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person will detect early symptoms of hyperglycaemia and correct the problem, for example, by 

taking insulin. If left untreated, hyperglycaemia can lead to an acute complication called diabetic 

ketoacidosis (“DKA’’). DKA occurs when high blood sugar levels cause the body to break down 

fat cells for fuel, rather than convert sugar in the blood. This process releases waste products 

called ketones that can accumulate in the blood and affect the body’s metabolism. Signs and 

symptoms of DKA can include fruity odour on the breath, confusion, nausea, vomiting and 

weight loss. DKA is life-threatening and requires emergency treatment, which includes 

administration of fluids and insulin and can require hospitalisation. 

[43] A severe hyperglycaemic or hypoglycaemic event can often be prevented by many means 

and by the use of an insulin pump and a sensor. The complainant has been outfitted with a 

system called the Continuous Glucose Monitoring System (CGMS). The CGMS automatically 

checks blood glucose levels every few minutes using a sensor inserted under the skin. It can 

sound an alarm if levels are too high or too low. The CGMS is designed to interact with an 

insulin pump. An insulin pump replaces insulin injection therapy. The pump can administer 

insulin in two ways:  (1) it injects a basal rate of insulin (a regular series of small doses); or, (2) it 

injects a bolus rate (an increased dose of insulin programmed when carbohydrates are to be 

consumed). It is possible to suspend or adjust the basal rate when needed. In the event the CGMS 

is not working, the person with type 1 diabetes will switch to needles and insulin. The CGMS is 

not a foolproof tool: it only helps with the surveillance and management of diabetic symptoms. 

While this tool may help diminish the risk of a hypoglycaemic event occurring, the use of it 

cannot guarantee that such an incident will not reoccur. In the event of such an incident, the 

complainant would need a glucagon injection. I find, the CGMS’ use is not very well 

documented because no significant study has been performed on the subject. 

[44] The complainant has extensive knowledge of her condition and how to cope with it, even 

during her pregnancy (at the time of the hearing). She also possesses a good knowledge of her 

insulin pump and sensor and explained their functioning very clearly at the hearing. There are 

ways to prevent water, heat and sand, all current conditions in Afghanistan, from damaging the 
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insulin pump. The complainant takes 12 readings a day of her blood sugar levels and notes them 

in a notepad. She is able to skip meals even with her condition because of the way she controls 

her blood sugar levels. The complainant keeps sugar tablets with her in case of a low blood sugar 

reaction. She also gave examples of other food intake she may use in the same situation. She 

lives alone and copes with the dangers of hypoglycaemia by herself. She has never had a severe 

hypoglycaemic event in her sleep while living in Ottawa. Since 2009, the complainant uses a 

sensor to sound an alarm that can wake her up if her blood sugar levels are too low. Whenever 

the complainant travels or works overseas, she keeps her insulin, needles and other materials 

with her in case she needs it. 

V. Facts in Dispute & Positions of the Parties 

A. Position of the Complainant 

[45] According to the complainant, CIDA and HC discriminated against her on the basis of 

her diabetic condition. As far as the complainant is concerned, her medical condition is in no 

way an obstacle to her career. During her stay in Afghanistan, the complainant travelled in an 

armoured vehicle and had her medical supplies with her at all times. The day following her 

hypoglycaemic event in Afghanistan, the complainant was well and did not need additional care. 

She reported for duty as usual. Prior to, and since her hypoglycaemic incident in Afghanistan she 

never required hospitalisation for her diabetes. Since this incident, the complainant affirms that 

she has taken preventative steps in order to ensure that such an incident does not reoccur in the 

future. 

[46] The complainant argues that the Afghanistan Guidelines place a blanket ban on all type 1 

diabetics. This general prohibition does not take into account one diabetic’s particular 

characteristics over another. The complainant argues that she manages her diabetes in a way that 

permits her to accomplish her tasks without putting her or third parties in danger. She is of the 

view that she requires only the same level of security available to all other CIDA employees 
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deployed to Afghanistan and that a medical evacuation for complications related to her diabetes 

is very unlikely. Furthermore, the complainant asserts that no personnel from CIDA have ever 

been taken hostage while in Afghanistan. 

[47] The complainant contends that CIDA did not inform her of her rights and obligations 

when seeking accommodation. In this regard, CIDA’s communications with her were not prompt 

and were often given after lengthy intervals. She claims that she was never provided with a copy 

of FSD9 or informed about HC’s medical assessment process. 

[48] According to the complainant, CIDA must attempt to find ways to accommodate the 

complainant that would minimize any risk she may pose, to a reasonable level and, that CIDA 

only made a minimal attempt to remedy the situation. The complainant claims she attempted to 

work with CIDA to eliminate any perceived risks she may have posed by being posted to 

Afghanistan. The possibility of limiting all the complainants’ functions to “inside the wire” 

which means Protective perimeter at Kandahar airfield was advanced, as was the 

recommendation that the complainant share a room with an individual cognizant of her condition 

and the treatment of it. Furthermore, the complainant argues that CIDA could have chosen to 

instruct its employees on how to administer glucagon injections. She was also willing to sign a 

waiver of liability in order to be able to be posted to Afghanistan. 

[49] The complainant claims that the impact of not being posted to Afghanistan was that she 

did not gain the field experience necessary for her career plan. Had the complainant received the 

posting in Afghanistan she feels confident that she would have received experience in managing 

programs, projects or issues in the area of international development. The complainant has 

applied for other competitions in CIDA in order to gain the field experience she feels she lost. 

B. Position of the Respondents 

[50] CIDA and HC filed a joint response to these complaints. 
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[51] According to the respondents, accommodating the complainant in Afghanistan would 

cause undue hardship to the employer. Canada is at war in Afghanistan. Danger is everywhere 

and it is not possible for the complainant to be in control of her environment at all times. The 

medical facilities available in Afghanistan are ill equipped and overburdened. Medical 

evacuations are expensive and dangerous, as the helicopters used for these evacuations are often 

the target of enemy forces. Accommodating the complainant in Afghanistan poses an 

unacceptable level of risk to the complainant, to CIDA’s operations and to the operations of the 

Canadian Armed Forces. Since the complainant has already suffered a hypoglycaemic incident in 

Afghanistan, the respondents consider their position to be reasonable. 

[52] CIDA contends that it attempted to accommodate the complainant by eliminating the 

travel requirement of her position. Moreover, a detailed list of appropriate countries for 

deployment based on the complainant’s medical conditions was created and given to the 

complainant to help her with her career plans. 

[53] The respondents contend that medical screenings are necessary before deploying 

employees to foreign countries. In this case, the rationale for not sending individuals with 

chronic diseases to Afghanistan is risk minimization in an already unstable and risky 

environment. CIDA maintains that it does not have the expertise needed to pronounce 

themselves on health matters, which is why they rely on HC’s recommendations. CIDA is not 

the only department that requires medical screening and recommendations from HC in order to 

deploy its employees. The Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT) also 

relies on HC for recommendations before deployment. CIDA officials inquired to DFAIT if they 

had ever deployed an employee against a HC recommendation. DFAIT’s response was that it 

was uncommon, and likely only occurred on two separate occasions. 

C. Position of the Commission 

[54] The Commission is of the view that HC’s Afghanistan Guidelines can be interpreted as 

imposing a blanket ban on sending any person with type 1 diabetes to Afghanistan. The 
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Commission also submits that CIDA may have interpreted the guidelines as imposing a blanket 

ban as it cited HC’s recommendation and guidelines in deciding that it would not allow the 

complainant to work in Afghanistan. 

[55] The Commission argues that CIDA has not shown that it turned its minds to the 

possibility of finding ways, short of undue hardship, to bring any risks of accommodating the 

complainant in Afghanistan within tolerable levels. According to the Commission, since 

accommodative options in Afghanistan were not explored, the Afghanistan Guidelines cannot be 

justified. 

[56] The Commission submits that CIDA breached its procedural obligation to accommodate 

the complainant by failing to take active steps to obtain all the relevant medical information 

necessary to make a fair, individualized and comprehensive decision. In this regard, the 

respondents did not treat the complainant in a fair and transparent manner, or respect her needs 

for information and support. 

VI. Law & Analysis 

A. The Complaint against HC 

i. A complaint can be filed under section 7 of the CHRA in the circumstances of this 
case 

[57] The complaint against HC was originally filed pursuant to section 5 of the CHRA. By 

consent of the parties, the complaint was amended to include sections 7 and 10 of the CHRA as 

well. Given the unique relationship between the complainant and HC in this case, a question 

arises as to which of sections 5(b), 7(b) and/or 10(a) of the CHRA provide jurisdiction for the 

Tribunal to consider a claim against HC in this case. Each of these sections will be examined in 

turn. 
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[58] Section 5(b) 

Section 5(b) of the CHRA provides: 

 5. It is a discriminatory practice in the provision of goods, services, facilities or 
accommodation customarily available to the general public 

... 

(b) to differentiate adversely in relation to any individual. 

on a prohibited ground of discrimination. 

[59] In this section, the term “services” has been interpreted as something of benefit, being 

“held out” as a service (see Canada (Attorney General) v. Watkin, 2008 FCA 170 at para. 31). 

The term “customarily available to the general public” contemplates that the service being 

offered creates a public relationship between the service provider and the service user (Dreaver 

v. Pankiw, 2009 CHRT 8 at para. 30; and, Gould v. Yukon Order of Pioneers, [1996] 1 S.C.R. 

571 at para. 69). 

[60] In this case, HC is not providing a service for the benefit of the complainant but, rather, is 

providing a service for the benefit of CIDA. CIDA does not have medical expertise and relies on 

HC’s assessment to make its own decision. It is CIDA who requests the assessment from HC, not 

the employee. HC is not offering a service that is generally available to other members of the 

Canadian public. 

[61] In Panacci v. Canada (Attorney General), 2010 FC 114 [Panacci], the complainant was a 

Canada Border Services Agency mail inspector who suffered a number of ailments. The 

Treasury Board instituted its accommodations policy and HC was responsible for carrying out 

health capacity and limitations evaluations. The complainant made her complaints following an 

evaluation in which the doctors attributed her complaints to job satisfaction and recommended 

transfer to another division. On judicial review, one of the questions that the Federal Court had to 

deal with was which of sections 5, 7 or 10 of the CHRA could form the basis for the grant of 
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jurisdiction for a discrimination claim against HC. With regards to section 5 of the CHRA, the 

Court stated: 

While public servants with disabilities may fall within a sector of the general 
public, it stretches the normal meaning of "general public" to include persons 
such as the Applicant, a public servant who is subject to a Health Canada review 
in relation to her employment needs -- a service not available to most other 
members of the Canadian public. 

(Panacci at para. 52) 

[62] Based on the above, I do not believe that a complaint can be made out against Health 

Canada on the basis of section 5 of the CHRA. 

[63] Section 7(b) 

Sections 7(b) of the CHRA provides: 

 7. It is a discriminatory practice, directly or indirectly, 

... 

(b) in the course of employment, to differentiate adversely in relation to an 
employee,  

on a prohibited ground of discrimination. 

[64] Under section 7(b) of the CHRA, the focus of the inquiry is on adverse differential 

treatment that is work or job-related (see Robichaud v. Canada (Treasury Board), [1987] 

2 S.C.R. 84 at para. 12). There is authority to suggest that a broad and liberal interpretation of 

section 7 of the CHRA, consistent with the nature of human rights legislation (see CNR v. 

Canada (Human Rights Commission) (Action Travail des Femmes), [1987] 1 S.C.R. 1114 at 

para. 24), leads to a conclusion that this section encompasses employment situations beyond the 

direct employer-employee relationship. In Fontaine v. Canadian Pacific Ltd. (1989), 

11 C.H.R.R. 288 (CHRT) [Fontaine], the Tribunal interpreted section 7 of the CHRA as follows: 

There need not be an actual contract or a direct relationship between the two 
parties in question. In any event, the word "indirectly" in the Canadian Human 
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Rights Act provision must be given some meaning and thus provides a further 
basis for the conclusion that there need not be a contractual nexus between C.P. 
and Mr. Fontaine so long as there exists a significant element of control over his 
employment. 

In our view the nature of the inquiry should not be whether C.P. is actually Mr. 
Fontaine's employer as that would not end the matter. To come within the 
purview of Section 7, one merely has to show that the impugned conduct was by 
someone who had a considerable degree of control or influence over the actual 
employer and indirectly upon its employee. 

(Fontaine at paras. 30-31) 

[65] The Fontaine decision was upheld by the Federal Court on judicial review (Canadian 

Pacific Ltd. v. Canada (Human Rights Commission), [1991] 1 F.C. 571 [Canadian Pacific]); 

however, in relation to the Tribunal’s interpretation of section 7, the Federal Court stated that 

“...the language used by the Tribunal may not be apt in all respects” (Canadian Pacific at 

para. 11). Rather, the Federal Court preferred to interpret “employ”, and its derivatives 

(employer, employment), to mean “utilize” and arrived at the same conclusion as the Tribunal. 

Although Canadian Pacific seems to narrow the interpretation of section 7 set out in Fontaine, 

the recent decision of the Federal Court in Panacci provides a fresh perspective on the 

interpretation of section 7 of the CHRA. As mentioned above, in the Panacci decision, the 

question on judicial review was whether a discrimination complaint could properly be made out 

under sections 7 and 10 of the CHRA against HC on the basis of its health capacity and 

limitations evaluations, even though Canada Border Services Agency was the employer of the 

complainant. In this regard, the Court stated:  

While s. 10 raises the very issue of who is the "employee", the section could be 
read to encompass situations beyond the "direct" employer-employee relationship, 
e.g. Canadian Pacific Ltd. v. Canada (Human Rights Commission), [1991] 1 F.C. 
571 (C.A.), [1990] F.C.J. No. 1028. This is particularly the case where the Court 
is required to take a "large and liberal" approach in respect of a remedial statute. 

Therefore, it is not "plain and obvious" (as that test is described in Canada Post 
Corp. v. Canada (Canadian Human Rights Commission) (re Canadian 
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Postmasters and Assistants Assn.) [1997] F.C.J. No. 578 (T.D.), aff'd [1999] 
F.C.J. No. 705 (C.A.)) that ss. 7 and 10 could not apply to the Applicant's 
complaint. This would be a matter which should have been left to the Tribunal to 
determine assuming there had been some factual basis upon which to ground the 
operation of these sections. 

(Panacci at paras. 54-55) 

[66] Ultimately, the Court seems to indicate that the determination of which section applies 

involves the following analysis: 

The real search is which department committed the discriminatory acts and which 
should be a "party" in order that remedial action can be ordered and be effective. 
It must be remembered that because the Act is directed at remedial action, the 
focus of the inquiry is what happened "in the course of the complainant's 
employment". (See Robichaud v. Canada (Treasury Board), [1987] 2 S.C.R. 84.). 
There was no question raised as to the Commission's true jurisdiction to deal with 
the Applicant's complaint. The question was which of at least three provisions 
form the basis for the grant of jurisdiction. 

(Panacci at para. 51) 

[67] Using the broad and liberal interpretation of section 7 as described by the Federal Court 

in Panacci, I find that this section finds application in this case. HC established a guideline and 

medical assessment practice that applied to the complainant “in the course of her employment”. 

The complainant claims that the guideline and medical assessment process adversely 

differentiated against her on the basis of her disability, a prohibited ground of discrimination. On 

this basis, there is a factual foundation upon which to ground the operation of section 7(b) of 

CHRA in a complaint against HC in this case. 

[68] Section 10(a) 

Section 10(a) of the CHRA provides: 

10. It is a discriminatory practice for an employer, employee organization or 
employer organization 
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to establish or pursue a policy or practice, or 

... 

that deprives or tends to deprive an individual or class of individuals of any 
employment opportunities on a prohibited ground of discrimination. 

[69] Unlike section 7, in section 10 of the CHRA Parliament has specified that only 

employers, employee organizations or employer organizations can be held liable for 

discriminatory policies or practices. In Bell Canada v. Communications, Energy and 

Paperworkers Union of Canada, [1999] 1 F.C. 113 (F.C.A.) [Bell Canada], the Court found that 

the operating words of section 11(1) of the CHRA (“It is a discriminatory practice for an 

employer...”) made “...the employer alone liable for differences in wages with respect to work of 

equal value” (Bell Canada at para. 56). The Court added: 

It would fly in the face of the clear wording of the Act and the obvious intent of 
Parliament to find the unions equally liable either implicitly under section 11 or 
indirectly through sections such as section 10 for having participated in the 
establishment of different wages with respect to work of equal value. 

(Bell Canada at para. 56) 

[70] The interpretation of section 11(1) of the CHRA by the Court in Bell Canada is equally 

applicable to the interpretation of section 10 of the CHRA in this case. Only employers, 

employee organizations and employer organizations can be held liable under section 10 of the 

CHRA. Given that HC is not the complainant’s employer in this case, there is no basis to found a 

complaint against HC under section 10(a) of the CHRA in the circumstances of this case. 

ii. The complainant has established a prima facie case of discrimination 

[71] The complainant in a proceeding before the Tribunal must establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination. A prima facie case is “...one which covers the allegations made and which, if 

they are believed, is complete and sufficient to justify a verdict in the complainant's favour in the 

absence of an answer from the respondent” (Ontario (Human Rights Commission) v. Simpsons 
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Sears Ltd., [1985] 2 S.C.R. 536 at para. 28). It is not necessary that discriminatory considerations 

be the sole reason for the actions in issue for a complainant to succeed. It is sufficient that the 

discrimination be but one basis for the employer’s actions or decisions. (See Holden v. Canadian 

National Railway Co. (1990), 112 N.R. 395 (F.C.A.); and, Canada (Attorney General) v. 

Uzoaba, [1995] 2 F.C. 569). However, allegations made by a complainant have to be credible in 

order to support a conclusion that a prima facie case exists (see Dhanjal v. Canada (Human 

Rights Commission) (1997), 139 FTR 37 (FC)). Once a prima facie case is established, the onus 

then shifts to the respondent to provide a reasonable explanation that demonstrates either that the 

conduct did not occur as alleged or was non-discriminatory. 

[72] On February 11, 2008 when the “incident” occurred, the complainant was sent back 

home because the internal medical doctor recommended it was safer for her and for others that 

she not stayed in Afghanistan. Following this incident, the military was displeased by the fact 

that no medical screening was done before sending any civilians to Afghanistan on assignments 

of up to a one year period. This displeasure was communicated to CIDA in an email from 

Major Thurlow questioning why employees were not medically screened before being sent to a 

war zone if their posting was under a year. CIDA usually retains the services of HC to assess if 

employees are medically fit before sending them on a posting in Afghanistan or in other 

countries. HC modified the Afghanistan Guidelines, an annex to the OHAG, to include “Absolute 

medical requirements”, referred to by the complainant and the Commission as the “blanket ban”. 

According to the Afghanistan Guidelines, no one with a chronic medical condition is allowed to 

be posted to Afghanistan. The complainant lives with a condition, type 1 diabetes mellitus. 

Disability is included amongst the prohibited grounds of discrimination set out in section 3 of the 

CHRA, and is defined in section 25 as “any previous or existing mental or physical disability”. 

Being a physical disability, diabetes is encompassed by the definition of disability in the CHRA. 

When the complainant requested to go back to Afghanistan and started applying for postings and 

ultimately underwent the medical assessment process for posting, she was found to not meet the 

requirement for posting to Afghanistan by all HC doctors and the independent medical 

endocrinologist retained in the process. Although the independent medical specialist originally 
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found that she could meet the requirements for posting with conditions, when confronted with 

HC’s inquiry about the “Absolute medical requirements”, he declared that the complainant did 

not meet the requirements. I find, on a prima facie basis, the complainant was adversely 

differentiated by HC’s assessment process and guidelines on the ground of her disability 

according to section 7(b) of the CHRA. 

iii. HC has not established that the conduct did not occur as alleged or was non-
discriminatory 

[73] In the present case, the respondents’ responsibilities in assessing the complainant are 

intertwined. CIDA requests that employees be medically “fit for posting” before an assignment 

for posting is confirmed and materialized. HC’s recommendation plays a crucial role in the 

medical assessment process. Unless CIDA exercises its discretion not to follow HC’s 

recommendation, CIDA’s decision to post or not rests on the assessment and reasoning of HC. In 

this case, I find HC’s medical recommendation was a determining factor in CIDA’s decision not 

to post the complainant in Afghanistan. 

[74] After HC-MAC reviewed Dr. Baxter’s assessment, it rendered its decision that a third 

medical opinion should be performed and that the opinion of this third independent 

endocrinologist would be accepted. HC informed the complainant of the HC-MAC’s decision. 

When the opinion came back from the independent endocrinologist, Dr. Beauregard, that the 

complainant was deemed fit and, after receiving a positive result on her stress and psychological 

assessments, based on the assurances from HC that the independent medical examiner’s opinion 

would be accepted; the complainant expected that she would be posted to Afghanistan. Rather 

than accepting the opinion, HC asked Dr. Beauregard twice for clarification insisting that he look 

at the Afghanistan Guidelines in his clarification process. In response to HC, Dr. Beauregard 

stated that if the requirements were to be interpreted as “absolutely no medical conditions’’ that 

had the potential to constitute a danger of death, then in that case, the complainant was not an 

ideal candidate for deployment. HC then recommended to CIDA that the complainant not be 

posted in Afghanistan. 
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[75] The absolute medical requirements in the Afghanistan Guidelines were the determining 

factor in swaying the endocrinologist’s opinion. He interpreted them as instituting a “blanket 

ban”, a description of the guidelines that I do not think came from the doctor himself (term used 

by the complainant and the commission), however, I do believe he understood the medical 

requirements as being absolute. The evidence showed that the interpretation of the “absolute 

medical requirements” by Dr. Beauregard was not contested nor clarified by HC. In this regard, I 

find that there is a problem with the manner in which the “Absolute medical requirements’’ of 

the Afghanistan Guidelines, are worded and therefore are open to more than one interpretation. 

[76] In Meiorin, the Supreme Court of Canada stated: 

Yet the standard, if it is to be justified under the human rights legislation, must 
accommodate factors relating to the unique capabilities and inherent worth and 
dignity of every individual, up to the point of undue hardship. 

[...] 

Employers designing workplace standards owe an obligation to be aware of both 
the differences between individuals, and differences that characterize groups of 
individuals. They must build conceptions of equality into workplace standards. By 
enacting human rights statutes and providing that they are applicable to the 
workplace, the legislatures have determined that the standards governing the 
performance of work should be designed to reflect all members of society, in so 
far as this is reasonably possible. Courts and tribunals must bear this in mind 
when confronted with a claim of employment-related discrimination. To the 
extent that a standard unnecessarily fails to reflect the differences among 
individuals, it runs afoul of the prohibitions contained in the various human rights 
statutes and must be replaced. The standard itself is required to provide for 
individual accommodation, if reasonably possible. A standard that allows for such 
accommodation may be only slightly different from the existing standard but it is 
a different standard nonetheless.  

(Meiorin at paras. 62, 68) 

[77] Although the guidelines are meant to be instructive and informative, their wording 

suggests mandatory medical requirements without consideration of the individualized 
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circumstances of each person. While HC doctors might understand the informative nature of the 

guidelines, an independent doctor, as in this case, might interpret the Afghanistan Guidelines as 

mandatory or absolute. In fact, on cross-examination, one of the authors of the Afghanistan 

Guidelines established that it is more than probable that someone reading the guidelines will 

interpret the medical requirements contained therein as being absolutely necessary. The 

terminology used in the guideline suggests that no person with a chronic condition will be 

qualified for a posting in Afghanistan. As was the interpretation of Dr. Beauregard, the 

Afghanistan Guidelines do not indicate a consideration of what exactly the restrictions of the 

person’s condition are and whether these restrictions can still fulfill the medical requirements for 

posting to Afghanistan. In order to advance human rights, human rights principles need to be 

considered in the process of developing policies and guidelines. Organizations need to insure that 

in writing policies or guidelines that they are written in accordance with human rights principles. 

[78] The process by which HC assessed and arrived at its recommendation, influenced as it 

was by the Afghanistan Guidelines, also failed to consider the inherent worth and dignity of the 

complainant. Section 2 of the CHRA provides that the purpose of the Act is to give effect to the 

equality rights of all individuals. The notion of equality means “...a respect for the inherent 

dignity of all human beings whatever their colour, race, language, sex or religion” (Warman v. 

Tremaine, 2007 CHRT 2 at para. 97). The inherent worth and dignity of every individual is also 

recognized in the Preamble to the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217 A 

(III), U.N. Doc. A/810 (1948) 71: 

Whereas recognition of the inherent dignity and of the equal and inalienable rights 
of all members of the human family is the foundation of freedom, justice and 
peace in the world, 

[79] Also, Article 1 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights provides: 

All human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights. They are endowed 
with reason and conscience and should act towards one another in a spirit of 
brotherhood. 
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[80] Furthermore, the Preamble to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 

19 December 1966, 999 U.N.T.S. 171, arts. 9-14, Can. T.S. 1976 No. 47, 6 I.L.M. 368 (entered 

into force 23 March 1976, accession by Canada 19 May 1976), states: 

The States Parties to the present Covenant,  

Considering that, in accordance with the principles proclaimed in the Charter of 
the United Nations, recognition of the inherent dignity and of the equal and 
inalienable rights of all members of the human family is the foundation of 
freedom, justice and peace in the world,  

Recognizing that these rights derive from the inherent dignity of the human 
person, 

[81] Also the Covenant on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities adopted on 13 December 

2006 during the sixty-first session of the General Assembly by resolution  A/RES/61/106 signed 

by Canada on March 30th, 2007 and ratified by Canada on March 11, 2010, in its Preamble 

section h mentions: 

“Recognizing also that discrimination against any person on the basis of 
disability is a violation of the inherent dignity and worth of the human person,” 

[82] Human dignity is harmed when “...individuals and groups are marginalized, ignored, or 

devalued...” (Law v. Canada (Minister of Employment and Immigration), [1999] 1 S.C.R. 497 at 

para. 53). HC’s witness admitted at the hearing that it was an error to tell the complainant that 

they would respect the independent endocrinologist’s opinion "whatever it may be". HC’s 

witness testified that they found Dr. Beauregard biased because he did not consider all the 

information first handed to him and that he was influenced by the personal motivation of the 

patient to go to Afghanistan. Under oath, Dr. Beauregard testified that the complainant appeared 

to be a very competent employee and that he would certainly hire her if he was in the employers’ 

position. He also presumed that if a kidnapping were to occur, the kidnappers would want to 

keep their hostage alive. Although I redirected Dr. Beauregard to testify on his area of expertise, 

http://daccess-ods.un.org/access.nsf/Get?Open&DS=A/61/PV.76&Lang=E
http://daccess-ods.un.org/access.nsf/Get?Open&DS=A/61/PV.76&Lang=E
http://daccess-ods.un.org/access.nsf/Get?Open&DS=A/RES/61/106&Lang=E
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these comments demonstrate that HC’s concerns that Dr. Beauregard was biased were justified. I 

find what happened is that when the HC-MAC recommended a third opinion and made the 

statement that they would accept that opinion, this placed them in a difficult position when they 

considered the third opinion to be bias. Having said they would accept the third opinion, 

whatever it may be, the HC-MAC created expectations for the complainant. Although they chose 

to seek clarification when the opinion deemed her fit, they did not seek further clarification when 

the opinion was changed. As it was not part of their practice, HC did not call or attempt to meet 

with Dr. Beauregard to determine the basis of his opinion that the complainant was fit for posting 

or to explain the instructional nature of the Afghanistan Guidelines. 

[83] Furthermore, section 1 of the OHAG indicates: 

The intention of the OHAG is to guide the examiner to reach decisions and not to 
provide a set of rigid standards. No manual or set of standards can replace 
judgment based on the examiner’s knowledge of the individual, the job, and the 
circumstances under which the job will be carried out. 

The standards contained in this guide are deliberately worded in such a way to 
require the exercise of sound medical expertise, considering the requirements of 
the job and current occupational health practice. 

When an individual is unable to meet the occupational health medical 
requirements of a given position as outlined in this guide, the employing 
department, to the point of undue hardship, undertake further medical 
testing and/or other accommodation. As part of its duty to make every effort 
up to the point of undue hardship to make every effort up to the point of 
undue hardship to accommodate the individual. Consideration will be done 
in consultation with the regional HC OHMO. 

(Emphasis added)  

[84] The evidence indicates that although HC takes an active role in the updating of the 

medical assessment guidelines of the OHAG and, that they remain available for any consultation 

with the employer concerning the OHAG, accommodation measures or further medical testing, 
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HC never clarified with CIDA that Dr. Beauregard’s opinion was swayed when he interpreted 

the medical requirements found in the “Afghanistan Guidelines to be “absolute”. HC never 

explained to Dr. Beauregard that the intention of the OHAG is not to provide a set of rigid 

standards. HC simply accepted Dr. Beauregard’s conclusion in the light of the “Absolute medical 

requirements” and gave the information to CIDA. Even if Dr. Lloyd-Jones from HC gave 

Clement Bedard (Program Assistant Assignments management Center CIDA) both of 

Dr. Beauregard’s opinions in its letter dated November 19, 2009, that the complainant could be 

posted if certain conditions are met and, the other opinion, that she might not be the ideal 

candidate in light of the absolute medical requirements; this does not suffice to show that HC 

acted in a non-discriminatory way. Context and information were missing in the transmission 

and communication of the medical assessments. On December 9, 2009, France Genest (Director, 

Human Resources, Operations, CIDA) writes a letter to Dr. Lloyd-Jones, to ask if her 

conclusions are correct that Dr. Baxter and Dr. Beauregard are of the same opinion, HC does 

nothing to clarify the nuance between the two. Dr. Baxter’s assessment of the complainant did 

not include a consideration of the Afghanistan Guidelines. At the time of Dr. Baxter’s 

assessment, the guidelines were in draft form and had not been implemented yet. Dr. Baxter’s 

assessment led her to the conclusion that the complainant was not an ideal candidate for posting 

in Afghanistan. The respondents contend that Dr. Beauregard arrived at this same conclusion. 

However, only one assessment considered the “Absolute medical requirements’’ in the 

Afghanistan guidelines. Dr. Beauregard originally found the complainant fit for posting in 

Afghanistan with conditions. It was only in light of the absolute medical requirements of the 

Afghanistan Guidelines that Dr. Beauregard changed his recommendation and said that the 

complainant might not be the ideal candidate. Without the application of the Afghanistan 

Guidelines, Dr. Baxter’s assessment is that the complainant should not be posted and 

Dr. Beauregard’s assessment is that the complainant can be posted to Afghanistan with 

conditions. Knowing the fact that the final decision rests with CIDA, HC had to ensure the 

information was as accurate and complete as possible. 
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[85] I find, the problem lies, in part, with the manner HC chose to deal with the doctor’s 

perceived bias. Even though HC found Dr. Beauregard to be biased, they followed through on 

his recommendation that additional tests be performed. On one hand, they followed 

Dr. Beauregard’s recommendation to test the complainant and, on the other hand, they 

questioned his judgement because they did not find him independent. When the test results 

ultimately were positive, HC was faced with a challenge because then again, it raised the 

complainant’s expectations for posting. 

[86] Throughout the whole process the complainant’s dignity was not preserved: false 

expectations were raised and the process was not timely on HC’s end. Overall, it took over a year 

and a half from the point when the complainant asked CIDA to exercise its discretion and allow 

her to work in Afghanistan, through HC’s medical assessment process, to CIDA’s final 

determination that she could not be posted to Afghanistan. Although HC’s doctors are busy, this 

does not explain the significant delay bearing in mind that these medical assessments are only 

valid for six months. The evidence also shows that a posting process usually starts in 

September of a certain year and that after the application period is closed, the next opportunity to 

apply for postings is in September of the following year. With the process being designed this 

way, it is unreasonable to require an individual to wait for months at a time to obtain medical 

information thus losing the opportunity to participate in a posting process. 

[87] Given the above, it is clear that the wording and application of the Afghanistan 

Guidelines is producing results that do not fit with its intent. It is important that human rights be 

reflected, not only in the contents of a policy or guideline, but in its communication and end 

result as well. The intention of a guideline or policy may be legitimate, but the manner in which 

it is expressed or applied may be deficient. With that in mind, monitoring the effects of that 

policy or guideline is important. Communicating a message and a direction through a policy or a 

guideline will have a better impact if it is not only well communicated, but also well monitored. 
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Monitoring guidelines and policies and their effects is necessary, especially in the human rights 

context: 

“Monitoring” is the active collection, verification and immediate use of 
information to improve human rights protection. 

(Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Training Manual on 
Human Rights Monitoring, UN Doc. E.01.X1V.2 (2001) at pp. 3, 9) 

[88] It is important that once a guideline or policy is adopted that appropriate risk 

management processes are put in place to prevent other human rights violations and injustices. 

With the use of surveys and reports, a good risk management system will frequently assess the 

effect of a guideline or policy to ensure that the intent of the guideline or the policy is being 

fulfilled without violating any rights and/or obligations. This monitoring and system to correct 

irregularities can help to correct any negative effects and can help improve the policy or 

guideline to better reflect its intent. In order to implement an effective guideline or policy, an 

organization should consult with experts in various fields, including human rights specialists. It 

is imperative in every process affecting an individual’s rights, such as work related matters, to 

inform them of their rights and recourses. It is also important to maintain a transparent dialogue 

with the individual in a timely, complete and up to date manner. The goal is to respect human 

dignity in these work related matters, such as in this case, when a medical assessment needs to be 

performed for a job posting. Considering all these factors contributes to elevating justice 

standards in our society, in conformity with the human rights enshrined in our Constitution and, 

in accordance with the quasi-constitutional character of the CHRA. 

[89] The standard of proof in discrimination cases is on a balance of probabilities. Therefore, 

discrimination may be inferred where the evidence offered in support of the discrimination 

renders such an inference more probable than the other possible inferences or hypotheses (see 

Premakumar v. Air Canada (2002), 42 C.H.R.R. D/63 (C.H.R.T.) at para. 81). In this case, I find 

the Afghanistan Guidelines do not reflect equality between all members of society. The 

application of these guidelines to the complainant resulted in her being discriminated against in 
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the course of her medical assessment. HC has not provided evidence that its conduct was non-

discriminatory. Therefore, it has been established that in the course of employment, the 

complainant suffered adverse differentiation on the basis of her disability by the wording and 

application of the Afghanistan Guidelines. On the basis of the reasoning above, HC has violated 

section 7(b) of the CHRA. 

B. The Complaint against CIDA 

i. The complainant has established a prima facie case of discrimination 

[90] The complainant worked and contributed to CIDA’s development program in 

Afghanistan. She went on two different temporary missions to Afghanistan and all the members 

of her team were eventually posted to Afghanistan except her. The factual evidence established 

that she was always considered a competent employee and, if not for her disability and the 

application of the Afghanistan Guidelines, she would have been posted in Afghanistan like the 

rest of her team. CIDA cited HC’s medical information and assessment and the fact that the 

absolute medical requirements of the Afghanistan Guidelines were not met, in its final decision 

not to post the complainant in Afghanistan. Therefore, CIDA pursued a medical assessment 

practice, pursuant to HC’s policies and guidelines, which deprived the complainant of an 

employment opportunity on a prohibited ground of discrimination: her disability. Therefore, a 

prima facie case of discrimination has been established under section 10(a) of the CHRA. 

[91] Under section 7(b) of the CHRA, “adverse differentiation” means a “distinction between 

persons or groups of persons that is harmful or hurtful to a person or a group of persons” 

(Tahmourpour v. Canada (Royal Canadian Mounted Police), 2009 FC 1009 at para. 44; varied 

on other grounds in Tahmourpour v. Canada (Royal Canadian Mounted Police), 2010 FCA 

192). As stated in the previous paragraph, the complainant has established that a distinction was 

made between her and her co-workers on the basis of her disability by the application of the 

Afghanistan Guidelines. This distinction was harmful to the complainant’s career because she 
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lost the opportunity to work and gain field experience in Afghanistan. Therefore, I find that a 

prima facie case has been established against CIDA under section 7(b) of the CHRA. 

[92] Since a prima facie case has been established under sections 7(b) and 10 of the CHRA, 

the onus shifts to the respondent CIDA to prove that these prima facie discriminatory practices 

were based on a bona fide occupational requirement. 

ii. CIDA’s discriminatory practice was not based on a bona fide occupational 
requirement 

[93] Sections 15(1)(a) and 15(2) of the CHRA provide: 

15. (1) It is not a discriminatory practice if 

any refusal, exclusion, expulsion, suspension, limitation, specification or 
preference in relation to any employment is established by an employer to be 
based on a bona fide occupational requirement; 

[…] 

(2) For any practice mentioned in paragraph (1)(a) to be considered to be based on 
a bona fide occupational requirement and for any practice mentioned in paragraph 
(1)(g) to be considered to have a bona fide justification, it must be established that 
accommodation of the needs of an individual or a class of individuals affected 
would impose undue hardship on the person who would have to accommodate 
those needs, considering health, safety and cost. 

[94] Under section 15(2) of the CHRA, Parliament has chosen to specifically identify the 

matters that may be taken into account by the Tribunal in an accommodation analysis: health, 

safety and cost. However, in Air Canada Pilots Association v. Kelly, 2011 FC 120 [Kelly], the 

Federal Court stated the following: 

That is not to say that matters such as employee morale and mobility, interference 
with other employees’ rights, and disruption of a collective agreement could never 
be relevant in a claim under the CHRA. Rather, [...] in order to be taken into 
account in an accommodation analysis, these matters must be of a sufficient 
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gravity as to have a demonstrable impact on the operations of an employers in a 
way that related to health, safety or cost. 

(Kelly at para. 402) 

[95] In addition, although section 15(2) is subject to section 15(9) of the CHRA, which 

provides for the universality of service for members of the Canadian Forces, the complainant is 

not a member of the Canadian Forces and, therefore, section 15(9) is not applicable in the present 

case (See Irvine v. Canada (Canadian Armed Forces), 2004 CHRT 9 at paras. 30-32; upheld on 

judicial review in Irvine v. Canada (Canadian Armed Forces), 2005 FC 122; and, Irvine v. 

Canada (Canadian Armed Forces), 2005 FCA 432). 

[96] The analysis used to determine whether an employer’s standard is a bona fide 

occupational requirement (BFOR) is that outlined by the Supreme Court of Canada in British 

Columbia (Public Service Employee Relations Commission) v. British Columbia Government 

and Service Employees’ Union, [1999] 3 S.C.R. 3 [Meiorin], as follows: 

(1) that the employer adopted the standard for a purpose rationally connected to the 
performance of the job; 

(2) that the employer adopted the particular standard in an honest and good faith belief 
that it was necessary to the fulfilment of that legitimate work-related purpose; and 

(3) that the standard is reasonably necessary to the accomplishment of that legitimate 
work-related purpose. To show that the standard is reasonably necessary, it must be 
demonstrated that it is impossible to accommodate individual employees sharing the 
characteristics of the claimant without imposing undue hardship upon the employer. 

(Meorin at para. 54) 

Steps One & Two 

[97] The first step of the Meiorin analysis examines the legitimacy of the standard’s general 

purpose. The second step assesses the employer’s intent in adopting the standard. These steps 
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ensure that “...when viewed both objectively and subjectively, the standard does not have a 

discriminatory foundation” (Kelly at para. 356; see also McGill University Health Centre 

(Montreal General Hospital) v. Syndicat des employés de l’Hôpital general de Montréal, 2007 

SCC4 at para. 14 [McGill University Health Centre]). The parties agreed that the first and second 

steps of the Meiorin analysis have been met in the present case. Therefore, I will briefly address 

these elements as they apply in the present case. 

[98] The Afghanistan Guidelines outline that employees must meet certain medical 

requirements to be posted in Afghanistan. They identify adverse climatic conditions that may 

affect the health of employees, including extreme heat, severe atmospheric pollution and 

exposure to infectious diseases. In this regard, the Afghanistan Guidelines state that access to 

medical treatment is very limited or may not even be available. The guidelines also identify that 

there is a significant risk of injury or death from travelling in Afghanistan and that employees 

live under the threat of physical attacks, even in secured zones. Therefore, the Afghanistan 

Guidelines are generally designed to determine whether an employee can withstand the stresses 

imposed by the war conditions in Afghanistan, and to minimize the requirement for medical care, 

which is in place primarily for the military to treat illnesses and injuries of troops, injured 

Afghani civilians and unpredictable emergencies that impact all civilians posted in Afghanistan. 

[99] The evidence indicates that the health and safety concerns identified in the Afghanistan 

Guidelines are legitimate and that medical care is indeed limited in Afghanistan. A detailed 

outline of the evidence in this regard is provided below. Therefore, a medical fitness standard is 

rationally connected to the working conditions that CIDA employees must endure in 

Afghanistan. 

[100] There is no indication in the evidence that the “...imposition of the guideline was not 

thought to be reasonably necessary or was motivated by discriminatory animus” (Meiorin at 

para. 60). Therefore, I find that the Afghanistan Guidelines were adopted in an honest and good 
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faith belief that it was necessary to the fulfilment of a legitimate work-related purpose and that 

the first two steps of the Meiorin analysis are satisfied. 

Step Three 

[101] The third step of the Meiorin analysis examines “...whether the standard is required to 

accomplish a legitimate purpose, and whether the employer can accommodate the complainant 

without suffering undue hardship” (Kelly at para. 356; see also McGill University Health Centre 

at para. 14). The use of the term "undue" infers that some hardship is acceptable. It is only 

“undue hardship” that satisfies this test (see Central Okanagan School District No. 23 v. Renaud, 

[1992] 2 S.C.R. 970, at page 984.). Generally, undue hardship means “disproportionate, 

improper, inordinate, excessive or oppressive” and is “...reached when reasonable measures of 

accommodation are exhausted and only unreasonable or impracticable options for 

accommodation remain” (Council of Canadians with Disabilities v. Via Rail Canada Inc., 

2007 SCC 15 at paras. 130, 140). The complainant must facilitate the search for meaningful 

accommodation by responding to reasonable employer requests for relevant medical information 

regarding his or her limitations, in order to allow the employer to initiate a proposal (Tweten v. 

RTL Robinson Enterprises Ltd., 2005 CHRT 8; and, Graham v. Canada Post Corporation, 

2007 CHRT 40) However, an employee cannot dictate to an employer the precise terms of an 

accommodation and cannot expect a perfect solution (see McGill University Health Centre; and, 

Hutchinson v. Canada (Minister of the Environment), 2003 FCA 133). 

[102] It may be ideal for an employer to adopt a practice or standard that is uncompromisingly 

stringent, but if it is to be justified it must accommodate factors relating to the unique capabilities 

and inherent worth and dignity of every individual, up to the point of undue hardship (Meiorin at 

para. 62.). Furthermore, when an employer is assessing whether it can accommodate an 

employee it must do an individualized assessment of the employee’s situation. In this regard, in 

McGill University Health Centre, the Supreme Court of Canada stated: “The importance of the 

individualized nature of the accommodation process cannot be minimized”.  
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[103] The analysis at this stage looks at “...first, the procedure [...] which was adopted to assess 

the issue of accommodation and, second, the substantive content of either a more 

accommodating standard which was offered or alternatively the employer's reasons for not 

offering any such standard” (Meiorin at para. 66). Therefore, I will examine, first, the procedure 

adopted by CIDA to assess the complainant’s condition and possible accommodation and, 

second, whether accommodating the complainant in Afghanistan would cause CIDA undue 

hardship. 

Procedure adopted to assess the complainant’s condition and possible accommodation 

[104] As mentioned above, CIDA does not possess medical expertise, and relied on HC’s 

medical assessment and the Afghanistan Guidelines in determining that the complainant could 

not be posted to Afghanistan. In April 2008, based on HC’s recommendation, CIDA informed 

the complainant that she was not selected for posting in Afghanistan. After finding out that 

CIDA ultimately had the discretion to determine whether she could be posted in Afghanistan, 

regardless of HC’s recommendation, the complainant asked CIDA to exercise its discretion and 

allow her to work in Afghanistan: to accommodate her disability. From this point forward, CIDA 

had a duty to obtain all relevant information about the employee’s disability and seriously 

consider how the complainant could be accommodated (see ADGA Group Consultants Inc. v. 

Lane et al., 91 O.R. (3d) 649 at para. 107 [Lane]). CIDA did not respond to the complainant’s 

initial request to exercise its discretion to allow her to go to Afghanistan. CIDA did not inform 

the complainant of, nor were the CIDA officials who testified familiar with, the procedures 

outlined in FSD9, HC’s medical assessment process or the OHAG. The evidence before the 

Tribunal contains an email sent from Marion Parry, who works in the Chief mobility exercises 

and career programs, human resources branch at CIDA, to two other CIDA managers, 

Joanne Nolan and Michael Collins. She wrote: 

With regards to next steps...we need to undertake medical screening for any 
officer you anticipate sending to Afghanistan any duration of TD. This note refers 
to situation with DND in Kandahar...but we should just do it in a blanket way for 
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Kabul too. I need to draft a response to Major Thurlow can you call me to discuss 
what process rigour we are now going to put in place.  

[105] According to the evidence and this email, I find, CIDA was actively implicated in the 

changes that ultimately were seen in the Afghanistan Guidelines used to assess the complainant. I 

also find that the evidence demonstrated that even if CIDA contends that it only follows HC’s 

recommendations and does not get involved in the medical assessment process and not having 

the expertise to do more than to follow their directions, they have much more influence in the 

whole assessment process than what they put forward.  

[106] In order to establish that a standard is “reasonably necessary”, an employer bears the 

burden of establishing that it considered every possible accommodative measure and determined 

that it cannot accommodate the employee without experiencing undue hardship (see Meiorin at 

para. 62; and British Columbia (Superintendent of Motor Vehicles) v. British Columbia (Council 

of Human Rights), [1999] 3 S.C.R. 868 at para. 32 [Grismer]). CIDA did not lead evidence that it 

explored all reasonable accommodation measures at the time of the complainant’s request. 

Although CIDA discussed removing the travel requirements of her job, this did not address the 

complainant’s need for operational field experience to advance her career. When the complainant 

asked for a list of countries to which she could be posted, it took CIDA over two months to 

determine that HC would take charge of this determination. It took another two months for HC to 

determine that insufficient information had been received with respect to six of the 19 countries, 

and that an addendum would follow once the information was received. HC never provided the 

addendum and CIDA did not make efforts to insure that an answer to this inquiry was provided. 

CIDA was of the mindset that offering the abovementioned to the complainant was 

accommodation as they state it was not part of their standard practice. However, the duty to 

accommodate is not met by simply going beyond standard practice. It is met by exploring all 

reasonable accommodation measures up to the point of undue hardship as outlined in Meorin and 

Grismer above. 
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[107] CIDA’s evaluation of accommodative measures was based, almost exclusively, on 

information provided by HC as CIDA does not possess the expertise to medically asses their 

employees. Although CIDA has the discretionary power not to follow a medical 

recommendation given by HC, the evidence has shown that CIDA rarely challenges a HC 

recommendation. In this regard, HC’s medical recommendation is a determining factor in 

CIDA’s decision for not posting the complainant to Afghanistan. In addition, HC’s medical 

assessment process is directly linked to CIDA’s accommodation analysis. However, HC did not 

provide CIDA with all the information it used in the assessment process, including information 

about the complainant’s “...current medical condition, prognosis for recovery, ability to perform 

job duties and capabilities for alternate work” (Lane at para.107). As mentioned above, based on 

the wording and application of the Afghanistan Guidelines, the individualized nature of the 

complainant’s condition, including her “...unique capabilities and inherent worth and dignity” 

were not taken into consideration (Meiorin at para. 62). CIDA did not seek another independent 

medical opinion and did not respond to the complainant’s request to exercise its discretion not to 

follow HC’s recommendation. On the other hand, if CIDA is not trained to evaluate the medical 

condition of an individual how will they establish when not to follow HC’s recommendation? 

Will they need to create another Committee of experts to validate HC’s recommendations? If 

they decide not to follow the recommendations, what are the consequences if another incident 

occurs bearing in mind the employer’s duty of care towards its employees? 

[108] Moreover, I find, CIDA tried to facilitate accommodation for the complainant by 

answering some of her questions on available postings and their requirements. When applying 

for a posting, evidence suggested that the employees rank countries by preference and, they often 

write a second and a third choice. CIDA did not attempt up to the point of undue hardship to 

ensure that the complainant would obtain her second or third choice for a posting overseas. 

While the employee cannot expect a perfect solution in the accommodation process (See McGill 

Health Centre (Montreal general hospital) v. Syndicat des employés de l’Hôpital général de 

Montréal, 2007 SCC 4, 2007 1 S.C.R. 161, at para. 22); CIDA had a practice of working with an 



41 

employee’s career plan. Michael Collins, Manager in the Afghanistan Task Force at CIDA wrote 

in an undated email to the complainant and her team: 

This email is to acknowledge formally that we have either received, or are aware 
of, your application/interests in upcoming postings to Afghanistan. The intent is 
very much to consider this interest on a priority basis. At this juncture, the plan is 
to set up meetings (or follow up in writing for those overseas) with each of you 
individually (e.g. with Steve Hallihan) over the next few days by which explore 
your interest in terms of location, timing, etc. And to review this in the context of 
your overall career interests and direction within the ATF. Will follow up on this 
shortly.  

[109] Although the evidence showed some meetings occurred and some efforts were made to 

help the complainant’s career plan she suffered a different treatment from her peers because of 

her disability. She could not be posted to Afghanistan and was the only one in her group that was 

prevented from a posting over there. The reason was not that she was not qualified for the job but 

rather that she was not fit to go because of her disability and more importantly because of the 

way the standard in the medical assessment was interpreted. CIDA made attempts to 

accommodate the complainant but did not offer her any alternative other than applying for other 

postings and a position in the Afghanistan task force in Ottawa without travel requirements. 

[110] The Complainant had a duty to cooperate in the accommodation process. At the hearing, 

CIDA argued that the complainant sent mixed messages and did not sufficiently cooperate in the 

accommodation process. In this regard, CIDA mentioned the fact that the complainant received a 

reprimand for some of the actions she took in addressing her situation with CIDA. I find the 

complainant did cooperate in the accommodation process even if some actions were found 

inappropriate. 

[111] For the above mentioned reasons, CIDA has not met its procedural duty to accommodate 

the complainant. On this basis, CIDA has not provided a bona fide justification for its 

discriminatory practices under sections 7 and 10 of the CHRA. Therefore, on the basis of the 

complainant’s disability, I find CIDA to have differentiated adversely in relation to the 
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complainant in the course of employment and to have pursued a practice that deprived the 

complainant of an employment opportunity. 

iii. Accommodating the complainant in Afghanistan would constitute undue hardship 

[112] The evidence clearly established the unique context in which the events leading to the 

complaints before the Tribunal took place. Does this unique context invalidate the duty to 

accommodate up to the point of undue hardship? The Commission argued that not conducting 

such an analysis would constitute an error of law. I concur. The duty to accommodate up to the 

point of undue hardship analysis needs to be done even in a war zone. It might not always be 

possible to accommodate in a war zone because of the unique conditions of war that could result 

in undue hardship; however, I reiterate that a case by case, individualized approach, is important 

because a generalized standard could create injustices if individual characteristics are not 

considered in the process. 

[113] Although CIDA did not establish that it considered every possible accommodative 

measure up to the point of undue hardship, I will examine whether it would cause undue 

hardship to CIDA to accommodate the complainant in Afghanistan. I find it necessary to perform 

this analysis as the parties made substantial submissions on this point and this determination 

relates to some of the remedies sought by the complainant. 

[114] Above, I found that the wording and effect of the Afghanistan Guidelines resulted in the 

complainant being discriminated against when she was being medically assessed for a job 

posting in Afghanistan. I also made a finding that HC relied upon the Afghanistan Guidelines to 

make their recommendation to CIDA concerning the complainant’s medical fitness to be posted 

in Afghanistan and that CIDA relied upon HC’s recommendation and the Afghanistan Guidelines 

to make their final decision not to post the complainant in Afghanistan. On January 11, 2010, 

Bob Johnston from CIDA wrote a letter to the complainant, which is contained in the agreed 
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statement of facts, informing her that, given HC’s recommendation, no further consideration 

would be given for her posting. The letter states: 

Hc confirmed that the independent medical specialist concluded that you “did not 
meet the absolute medical requirements of the OHAG”. HC further stated that the 
conclusion reached by the independent medical specialist was “consistent with 
those reached by the original assessing medical officer”. 

CIDA’s position and conduct in this matter has been and remains consistent 
with the existing applicable policy, technical and procedural framework. 
Furthermore, in response to CIDA’s question regarding the necessity of 
conducting further medical assessments for 2010, HC confirmed that no new 
assessment was required. 

[115] Bob Johnston finishes his letter to the complainant emphasizing that CIDA’s conduct was 

within the current policy and procedural framework. I find this confirmed the impact of the 

Afghanistan guidelines on the complainant’s medical assessment and on CIDA’s decision not to 

post her to Afghanistan. The letter also explained that Dr. Beauregard arrived to the same 

conclusion as the other doctors that assessed the complainant but only in the light of the 

“Absolute medical requirements”.  

[116] Thus being said, I have decided to base my analysis of whether there is undue hardship in 

accommodating the complainant in Afghanistan on the third medical opinion (Dr. Beauregard’s 

assessment), leaving aside his conclusion regarding the “Absolute medical requirements”. The 

HC-MAC was supposed to rely on the third medical opinion, but for reasons already outlined, 

the HC-MAC had difficulty doing so. Without the application of the Afghanistan Guidelines, 

Dr. Beauregard’s conditions and recommendations are the accommodative measures that CIDA 

should have considered in deciding whether the complainant could be posted in Afghanistan. In 

order for the complainant to be posted in Afghanistan, Dr. Beauregard recommended the 

following conditions to arrive at an acceptable level of risk for the complainant in Afghanistan : 

Access to her medication, testing equipment and back-up supplies at all times so 
that she can monitor her own condition frequently throughout the day.  
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Live and sleep in a room with another person aware of her condition” in order to 
“gain additional security. 

Manage to have extra food and insulin to carry with her during travelling. 

[117] There is sufficient evidence before me to find that CIDA considered the possibility of 

implementing these conditions and arrived at the conclusion that it was not possible. The 

evidence indicates significant health and safety risks for the complainant in working in 

Afghanistan, as well as safety risks for those fighting the war in Afghanistan should they have to 

assist the complainant. For the following reasons, I find that it would pose an undue hardship on 

CIDA to have to accommodate the complainant in Afghanistan. 

Health Risks 

[118] Development Officers from CIDA posted to Afghanistan contribute to the economic and 

political development of Afghanistan by a variety of means. At the relevant times, Development 

Officers could be posted at the Canadian embassy in Kabul, at the KAF or with the PRT in 

Kandahar. Mr. Johnston described the duties of Development Officers working at these three 

locations. At the Canadian Embassy in Kabul, responsibilities included liaising closely with 

Afghan government departments, contributing resources for programs run by international 

organizations or non-governmental organizations, and travelling frequently in Kabul. With the 

PRT, where the majority of CIDA’s officers were posted, Development Officers were 

responsible for managing a portfolio of projects and initiatives. Canada’s aid totalled around 

10 million dollars a year, spread over 20 projects, with each officer responsible for up to 4 or 5 

projects. As is the case in Kabul, Development Officers were required to travel to meet partners 

and to visit and monitor project sites. CIDA did not post many officers at the KAF. Their duties 

there were principally related to coordination with the military. Bob Johnston testified at the 

hearing:  

Their role was to ensure that he [the commander] was taking into account the 
development dimension".  Day to day activities at the KAF included meetings 
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within the KAF, "but when the general or ROCK was invited to Shura, or site 
visit they would be expected to accompany, on occasion they would be sent out 
on their own, to accompany one group or another that was dealing with an issue 
that involved civilian or military assets. 

[119] Dr. Callary and Dr. Baxter travelled to Afghanistan to visit the different locations where 

CIDA employees work except one, the PRT. Because of a sandstorm, they were not able to fly 

over at the PRT. In the event that the complainant suffered an injury and needed evacuation, she 

would be in greater risk than other employees because of her health condition and the risk would 

increase in cases such as a sandstorm that could limit the evacuation. The doctors considered that 

fact in their analysis. Dr. Callary and Dr. Baxter testified and submitted a written report on the 

possibilities of accommodating the complainant in Afghanistan. They reported that local 

stressors in Kabul, at the KAF, and at the PRT and wrote in the report that stressors included 

“general fatigue from working long hours, noise levels and sleep difficulties, small cramped 

quarters, and lack of freedom to travel and dangers of suicide bombers during travel”. In their 

view, and CIDA’s view as well, it was a challenge to have the complainant work inside the wire 

without any traveling requirement because that meant other employees had to travel more to 

compensate, which increased their exposure to the dangers in the area. When all factors were 

analysed together, the doctors concluded that it was not possible to accommodate the 

complainant in Afghanistan as the complainant would expose herself to increased stress, 

infections, and risks of injury that require more medical attention for a person with type 1 

diabetes. 

[120] The Tribunal also heard testimony from Dr. John Dupré, an endocrinologist expert on 

behalf of the Respondents. Dr. Dupré was of the opinion that the risk of hypoglycaemic event 

cannot be completely eliminated for the complainant. He testified that severe hypoglycaemic 

events, such as the incident involving the complainant in 2008, can reoccur and increase with age 

and with the frequency of hypoglycaemic events. After considering all available medical 

evidence regarding the complainant and the situation in Afghanistan, Dr. Dupré considered the 

complainant at risk for herself and for others and did not for see any possibility for 
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accommodation. He wrote in his report concerning the risk of severe hypoglycaemic event, that 

it was inevitable for the complainant. 

[121] In his report Dr. Beauregard wrote: “I assumed that she could be posted to Afghanistan, 

provided that she had access to food, insulin and the necessary equipment for insulin 

administration and blood glucose monitoring. I did recognize, however, that if she were taken 

hostage, she would be at greater risk of dying if deprived of food and/or insulin. Although living 

and working in difficult conditions imposes an additional challenge to a person having to cope 

with type 1 diabetes, my assessment, based on the qualifications and the motivation of 

Ms. Cruden in the management of diabetes, was that she was qualified to be posted to 

Afghanistan, but only provided that her necessary equipment were made available’’. 

(Emphasis added). Dr. Beauregard testified that the risk for the complainant of having a severe 

hypoglycaemic event was “real”. Dr. Arnaout reported that the risk of a hypoglycaemic event is 

unavoidable. I find that the risks for the complainant of having another severe hypoglycaemic 

event are present and cannot be eliminated. 

[122] The Tribunal also heard evidence from Colonel Ricard and Major Thurlow. They 

possessed a good knowledge and expertise of Afghanistan, the war zone context in that country 

and gave a detailed description of the functioning, locations and goals of the medical facilities in 

Afghanistan. The two witnesses that testified on these issues testified without contradictions and 

I found their testimony to be credible. Overall, the evidence of Colonel Ricard and 

Major Thurlow indicated that the medical facilities in Afghanistan are limited and are operating 

at full capacity. 

[123] Medical facilities are classified in four categories by the military from Role 1 to Role 4, 

the Role 1 being the least capable and the Role 4 being the most capable. In Afghanistan, the 

most capable facility operated by Canadians, now taken over by the Americans, was the Role 3 

facility at the KAF. There is no Role 4 facility in Afghanistan. If a person should require a 
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Role 4 facility, the person would be medically evacuated to Germany or Canada if the person is 

stable enough to travel. 

[124] There are no Canadian medical facilities at the Canadian embassy in Kabul. Moreover, 

there is no ambulance or 911 services. In any emergency situation, a patient would require 

transportation by armoured car. The journey may also be delayed due to conflict. Afghan 

hospitals are considered too dangerous for western nationals. There are two NATO military 

bases in the vicinity of Kabul that have medical facilities. There is a Role 1 facility at 

Camp Souter, located 20 minutes away from the embassy. The only Role 3 facility is located at 

Camp Warehouse, a French NATO base, 10 km east of Kabul. The road to Warehouse from 

Camp Souter is said to be dangerous, requiring the full military support of 8 soldiers to move one 

ill person. Camp Warehouse will provide medical services “in extremis’’ if it is not detrimental 

to the medical support of ISAF personnel. Finally, an ISAF pass is required for entry onto the 

base. Without an ISAF pass for vehicle access, entry may be refused or severely delayed. 

[125] Both the KAF and the PRT have a Role 1 and a Role 3 facility. The Role 1 facility at the 

KAF and at the PRT are capable of providing for patients needing minor procedures. These 

facilities do not have a lab or an x-ray machine and the pharmacy does not carry a full stock of 

medications. The hours of operation are from 07:30 to 16:30. A Role 1 facility is staffed with a 

medical officer and a physician’s assistant and was described as being similar to a family 

medicine office. The medical officer is like a family physician or a general physician. The 

physician’s assistant was described as an extension of the medical officer, similar to a nurse 

practitioner with a trauma focus rather than an illness focus. Both the medical officer and the 

physician’s assistant cover for each other when the other is away for “real life situations”. A 

Role 1 facility is used for triage only and, as a result, they do not have beds.  

[126] A Role 2 facility has a limited capacity as well. A patient may stay from a few hours to a 

couple of days. In a Role 2 facility only damage control surgery is provided to stabilize the 

patient. If further surgery is required the patient will have to be moved to a Role 3 facility. 
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[127] The Role 3 facility at the PRT was a Canadian run facility, but by nature it is a 

multinational facility. Although other nations are there at times, primarily it is Canadians and 

Americans stationed at the facility. It is a make shift facility with add-ons.  One hundred and 

sixty people work at the facility. There are 6 Intensive Care Unit beds (ICU), 6 Triage beds, 

12 holding beds and 3 Operating rooms. The bottle necks are the triage and the ICU beds.  

[128] The Role 3 facility at the KAF is staffed with two surgical teams, an orthopaedic surgeon, 

a psychiatrist and one internal medicine specialist. There are 12 regular beds and 4 (ICU) beds, 

16 beds in total and all in the same room. Colonel Ricard, (First Task Force Surgeon) serving at 

the KAF described the capacity of the facility as being “very very small’’. He also testified the 

16 beds are kept filled at 80%-90% capacity at all times. In the fall of 2009, the Americans took 

over command of the facility.  KAF is now a modern structure, with a trauma focused hospital, 

but can take on illnesses if need be. KAF now has 12 ICU beds and 12 Triage beds, increasing its 

capacity.  

[129] Colonel Ricard described the workload of military doctors at the KAF as extremely busy, 

with three major trauma surgeries per day on average. The doctors at the facility work at an 

intensive pace that is not sustainable for more than six months. In this regard, Colonel Ricard 

testified to the following: 

So you see as a commanding officer your staff which are all well trained and 
dedicated getting tired and tired and tired. And the way I saw it is that we squeeze 
them like a sponge for the 6 months they are there, there’s only a 3 week vacation 
during that six months, we burn them completely out and then we send them 
home to recuperate, but we couldn’t do that for one year, 2 years-3 years working 
at the Ottawa civic as my regular job with the intensitivity (sic) of what was 
happening over there. 

[130] Major Thurlow was the Watchkeeper at the joint operations centre of KAF. As such, he 

was responsible for responding to calls for medical emergencies, and would help determine the 

means of evacuating a casualty. In that task, he had up to date current knowledge of bed states 
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within all of the hospital facilities in his area of operations. He testified as to the following with 

regards to the hospital codes that conveyed the level of occupancy of a facility: 

Color code determines the capacity to accept patients. And this is known at the 
joint operations centre as something monitored minute to minute. A facility at 
green means that is has a capacity to take casualties, no restrictions. A facility at 
yellow, means 75% capacity is reached. Could be ICU beds, triage, war beds. You 
get to red, 90% of the hospital has been met. Finally you get to black, Black is 
100% so they are maxed out, the facility cannot take any more casualties’ 

[131] Major Thurlow testified that the Role 3 facility at the KAF frequently would encounter 

red or black color code scenarios. Major Thurlow added that hospital occupancy had an impact 

on both military operations and medical treatment. A commander may curtail military operations 

if he is made aware that a facility is in the red and would be unable to treat casualties. A red or 

black code also means that the military will prioritize who will get care. As such, NATO 

helicopters would prioritize evacuations depending on the casualty’s role and nationality, giving 

priority to coalition forces, western nationals, etc. 

[132] Patients are categorized according to their injury by type A, B or C.  A patient in category 

A requires treatment within the hour, which is referred to as the golden hour.  A category A 

patient will have priority over all others. Their situation is urgent and the most expedient 

methods are used to get them care.  This patient is always moved by air.  For a category B patient 

the window in which one must act goes up to 4 hours and they can be moved to a different 

location once stabilized. A category B patient is at risk from a life threatening injury but the risk 

is less elevated than a category A patient. A category C patient is a routine patient and can be 

moved within 24 hours. 

[133] There is no ambulance or 911 service in Afghanistan. Rather, where a medical 

emergency arises there is a limitation on the health care that can be given on site, as is the case at 

the PRT for example. If the situation is an A or B category, a medical evacuation mission is 

required and care will not be provided on site, the person has to be moved to another location 
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which involves additional safety risks for the injured person and the caregivers and the military. 

Evidence showed that if a person with type 1 diabetes gets shot there are additional risks to their 

health. Risks of being injured or shot, even in the PRT, were said to be “real not slim’’. 

Safety Risks 

[134] Apart from the health concerns, civilian employees working in Afghanistan are under 

constant threat of attack. CIDA employees posted in Afghanistan receive an additional 

remuneration called a “hostility bonus” in recognition of the dangers inherent with working in a 

war zone and the severe living conditions of the mission. At all three sites where CIDA officers 

operate, KAF, Kabul and the PRT compound, the security conditions were described as very 

dangerous. 

[135] Major Thurlow testified that KAF gets shelled fairly regularly and consistently. 

Colonel Ricard was the Task Force Surgeon at the KAF for a period of nine months and he 

testified that during that time there were 70 rocket attacks on the KAF.  At the time of the 

hearing of this case, Major Thurlow testified that the KAF had recently suffered a rocket attack 

that landed in the dining facilities, injuring several people and killing one person. In cross 

examination, Colonel Ricard disagreed with complainant counsel’s suggestion that the risks of 

injury at the KAF were “quite low”: “The chances of injury within KAF are real – not quite low.  

[...] There’s a significant risk to life in KAF – all people have to have flak jackets and helmets 

accessible”. 

[136] Bob Johnston, described the escalation of dangerous conditions in Kabul during the 

summer of 2008.  He testified that in 2008, security was breached at a hotel used by foreign 

nationals. This hotel was previously considered “secure”.  This security breach was followed by 

the first of the Indian embassy bombings, where fertilizer-loaded vehicles were blown up.  Body 

parts were found in the Canadian embassy, located half a mile away. Mr. Johnston testified that 

the security measures at the Canadian embassy in Kabul are the most expensive when compared 
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to any other Canadian embassy in the world.  After the events described above, the embassy 

hired a security firm that had both Afghan personnel and former members of the British Special 

Forces. CIDA officers attending meetings at the Canadian embassy were driven in armoured cars 

with an armed driver. In 2009, the embassy instituted “close protection” protocols, whereby 

employees were accompanied by these former members of the British Special Forces to meetings 

to help with extraction in the event of a suicide bombing, which was often followed by gun fire. 

[137] The PRT compound is also under threat of attack. Drs. Callary and Baxter reported that 

“firefights occur 300 to 400m away from the walls of the PRT, requiring employees to stay in 

bunkers”. Bob Johnston testified that in 2009, everyone at the PRT was evacuated because of a 

threat of major attack. 

[138] The constant threat of attack also impacts on medical evacuations. Medical evacuations 

can be done either by armoured vehicle or by helicopter. Given the dangers of travelling by 

vehicle, most medical evacuations are done by helicopter. Major Thurlow, who was responsible 

for monitoring battles and dispatching helicopters to rescue casualties, testified that there were 

15 helicopters, most if not all American, responsible for all the medical evacuations in the area of 

operations known as Regional Command South, which comprises 5 southern provinces of 

Afghanistan. In 2009, these 15 helicopters performed 5,300 medical evacuations, and transported 

7,500 casualties. This number does not include patient transfers from one facility to another, 

which are done with the same 15 helicopters.  There was an average of 16 medical evacuations a 

day, but this number could rise to as many as 32:  

one day, we had 32 medevacs missions flown – and that means that everyone is 
working to full capacity – they are flying from one mission to the next to the next 
– you have facilities filling up, and in that day, we denied care  
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[139] Major Thurlow also testified about the dangers of evacuating casualties in Afghanistan. 

Each mission requires two helicopters to be flown, with each helicopter carrying three people. 

One helicopter will land while the other provides protection. According to Major Thurlow : 

So 2 helicopters will go out, to pick up the casualty because of the security risk, 
the 2nd helicopter will either be a second medevac helicopter, or if the security 
risk is considered high in the area, the 2nd helicopter is an attack helicopter.  But 
both helicopters have the capacity to defend themselves. Both helicopters will go 
out to pick up the casualty.  One helicopter lands, the medical team, there’s 
approximately 3 people per helicopter.  They’ll get off, assess the casualty bring 
the casualty in the helicopter.  The other one stays in the air and provides 
protection to that helicopter, interdicts any enemy that may appear or try to 
involve themselves in the event.  Interdiction is common – not unexpected.  These 
helicopters are shot at – all helicopters are shot at.  If they’re flying around they 
are shot at.  It’s a dangerous job. 

[140] Major Thurlow added that Improvised Explosive Devices (IED) constitute another danger 

faced by soldiers performing medical evacuations.  On one occasion, while making their way 

back to the helicopter after placing a casualty on a stretcher, two stretcher bearers became 

amputees when they stepped on an IED. 

Other Safety Considerations 

[141] I also consider the following factors to be relevant to safety in evaluating undue hardship 

in the circumstances of this case. 

1. Accommodating the complainant in Afghanistan and the effect it may have on the success 
of the mission  

[142] The success of the Afghanistan mission, like for all other UN political or peace keeping 

missions, is optimal when good collaboration exists. The same principle applies for CIDA 

missions. Does accommodation in a war zone negatively impact the relationship between the 

different actors in place? We have to bear in mind that the success of UN and other international 

missions, such as the CIDA mission in Afghanistan, relies upon the effective partnerships and 
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good relations between the military and the different actors. The more negative the impact is, the 

closer it is to undue hardship, because of the effects it will have on the mission and on the people 

involved. While the Canadian Forces does not dictate to the Canadian Government how to 

manage their projects, they are the specialists when it comes to combat zones. Their evaluation is 

indispensible when it comes to the living conditions in place in the combat zone and the level of 

risk in those situations. The evidence established that the military are in charge of determining 

which medical facility a casualty will be sent to and for planning all evacuations and every move 

of Canadian civilians from the different camps to other parts of the country. Cooperation and 

good relations with the military is necessary to successfully accomplish the mission. 

[143] In the present case, relations were affected by the absence of a process needed to prevent 

medical incidents, such as the one that occurred involving the complainant in 2008.  

[144] At the time of the incident, Ron Shatz, Director of Development at the PRT in Kandahar 

wrote an email to Mr. Hallihan and Mr. Metcalfe in the ATF, CIDA: 

it was a concern for those who attended to her. The thought of a reoccurrence 
does not sit well with any of us here 

[145] Both the Complainant and Respondents relied in their evidence on this email from 

Ron Shaltz: 

the medical staff this morning, told me there was no way he would have he stay at 
the KPRT, that she was putting others at risk, although I find it a stretch, he 
immediately ordered a chopper and she was evacuated to KAF within 90 minutes. 
He reckons this type of condition (he was told by his medic that B. Was near to 
diabetic coma) cannot be accepted here and that if this were to happen in a FOB 
there would be no life support with potentially disastrous circumstances. He made 
it clear he would not accept B. For a short or long term assignment here. 

[146] After the complainant’s hypoglycaemic incident in 2008, the military, in consultation 

with their internal doctor, found that it was unwise of CIDA to send civilians to a war zone 
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without properly screening employees for chronic conditions that could put them, others and, the 

whole mission at risk. As a result, the Afghanistan Guidelines were modified and the evidence 

showed that this helped improve relations with the military. While the military is not in charge of 

CIDA missions, they certainly have a word on how they wish to operate when they put their 

soldiers at risk.  In this regard, the intention of the Afghanistan Guidelines was to improve 

cooperation and safety between the different partners involved in the mission in Afghanistan. 

The complainant testified that the military and her employer overreacted in response to her 

hypoglycaemic incident in 2008. I disagree. I find the situation could have been much worse if 

no one heard her in her sleep or if an attack on the base had occurred at the time the complainant 

was incapacitated. In the light of the evidence, a person with type 1 diabetes may require the help 

of a third person to get a glucagon injection or intravenous glucose in case of a severe 

hypoglycaemic event or consequences could be disastrous.  The complainant also fails to 

consider the overall consequences that another hypoglycaemic incident could have on her safety 

and the safety of others, let alone the repercussions this could have on the relationship between 

CIDA and the military and the success of the Afghanistan mission.  

2. The level of control over the environment 

[147] The more control one can exert over a given environment the less a BFOR and undue 

hardship is justifiable; the less control one can exert over a given environment the more the 

BFOR defence up to the point of undue hardship standard is preserved. 

[148] An analysis of who has the control over the environment must be performed under this 

criterion. The more the employer has control over the environment and the outcomes of a 

mission, the more accommodation should be possible without suffering undue hardship. If the 

employer needs to rely on third parties to control the environment, the impact on the third party 

should be considered in the analysis of undue hardship. Will the accommodation be supported by 

other third parties who insure the success of the mission? 
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[149] In a war zone, control over the environment presents some challenges; if it did not, no 

civil casualties would occur because safety would be assured. The evidence above concerning 

the war zone context in Afghanistan establishes that the dangers over there are real and that lives 

are constantly in danger. In this light, it is imperative to keep in mind the answers to the 

following questions: 

What are the consequences if the accommodation is enforced? Will others be put 
in danger because of the accommodation?  What are the impacts on the rights of 
other CIDA employees, civilians, soldiers, facilities, etc...?  

[150] In the present case does accommodation require that others take action on the 

complainant’s behalf that imposes undue hardship on them? Is it reasonable or even possible for 

an employer to respect the accommodation on its own without the collaboration of partners?  

[151] CIDA’s work in Afghanistan depends on the military for various purposes and, most 

importantly, for security reasons. Although CIDA operates civilian projects in Afghanistan, the 

military is directly involved in the operational aspects of these missions and the reality is that 

some are so involved that they lose their lives in the course of their duty. 

[152] In assessing the evidence on this issue of who has control over the environment and the 

safety in the war zone, I prefer that of the respondent CIDA over that of the complainant’s. 

When the complainant testified, she attempted to minimize the dangers in Afghanistan. At the 

same time, she claims the hostility bonus as a remedy in this case. She said that no CIDA 

employee had been killed or kidnapped. I do not consider this evidence to be relevant 

considering that a Canadian diplomat has been killed, and other Canadian civilians have been 

injured or kidnapped in Afghanistan. The complainant’s evidence was not convincing on that 

issue. The evidence demonstrated that CIDA alone is not able to control the environment in 

Afghanistan to ensure reasonable safety to its employees. Moreover, it is difficult, if not 

impossible, for the military to control the safety of the environment in Afghanistan. I find that 

CIDA has a very low level of control over the complainant’s work environment in Afghanistan. I 
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find the military has some level of control, but cannot guarantee complete control in the war 

zone in Afghanistan. 

Conclusion on undue hardship 

[153] The Commission argued that the risks already present in the environment should be taken 

into consideration when assessing whether accommodating the complainant would pose an 

unacceptable level of risk. The Commission and the complainant claimed that every civilian 

posted to Afghanistan accepts a certain amount of risk, as do the military in cooperating with 

CIDA. Although this is true, the question remains, is it wise to consider adding more risks to an 

already risky environment? Is this approach acceptable in a war zone? 

[154] The Commission referred to Multani v. Commission scolaire Marguerite-Bourgeoys, 

2006 SCC 6 [Multani] to sustain its position on risk. The events in the Multani case took place in 

a Quebec public school, in Canada, a peaceful country where no one expects a rocket to fall on 

the school’s roof. If any emergencies arise, no insurgents will impede the paramedics or the 

police from arriving quickly to assist. In Afghanistan, the scenario is significantly different from 

that in Multani. However, I do find the Multani decision to be instructive in the sense that each 

environment is different and that the level of risk in that environment must be analysed on a case 

by case basis. In this regard, the Supreme Court stated the following:  

Although there is no need in the instant case for this Court to compare the 
desirable level of safety in a given environment with the desirable level in a 
school environment, these decisions show that each environment is a special case 
with its own unique characteristics that justify a different level of safety, 
depending on the circumstances.  

(See Multani at para. 66) 
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[155] In the same vein, in Nijjar v. Canada 3000 Airlines Ltd. (1999), 36 C.H.R.R. D/76 

[Nijjar], the Tribunal stated the following: 

In assessing whether or not the respondent's weapons policy can be modified so as 
to accommodate Sikhs detrimentally affected, consideration must be given to the 
environment in which the rule must be applied. In this regard, we are satisfied that 
aircraft present a unique environment. Groups of strangers are brought together 
and are required to stay together, in confined spaces, for prolonged periods of 
time. Emergency medical and police assistance are not readily accessible. 

The Commission points out that airplanes contain all manner of items such as 
wine bottles, crutches and walking sticks, all of which have the potential to be 
used as weapons but are allowed on board. While it is true that these types of 
items could theoretically be used as weapons, in light of Dr. McAuliffe's evidence 
with respect to the offensive capacity of wine bottles, and having regard to the 
confined space inside an aircraft in which crutches or walking sticks could be 
wielded, we do not think that the risk posed by items of this nature can be equated 
to that posed by kirpans. 

Unlike the school environment in issue in the Pandori case, where there is an 
ongoing relationship between the student and the school and with that a 
meaningful opportunity to assess the circumstances of the individual seeking the 
accommodation, air travel involves a transitory population. Significant numbers 
of people are processed each day, with minimal opportunity for assessment. 

(Nijjar at paras. 123-125) 

[156] That being said, proof of undue hardship can take “...as many forms as there are 

circumstances” (Hydro-Québec v. Syndicat des employé-e-s de techniques professionnelles et de 

bureau d'Hydro-Québec, section locale 2000, 2008 SCC 43 at para. 12). Indeed, accommodating 

an employee in a war zone is a unique situation and the respondents have led proof of the 

specific working conditions in Afghanistan as outlined above. As safety is at issue in this case, 

“...both the magnitude of the risk and the identity of those who bear it are relevant 

considerations” (Central Alberta Dairy Pool v. Alberta (Human Rights Commission), [1990] 

2 S.C.R. 489 at p. 521). The evidence outlined above indicates that not only are there serious 

health and safety risks present for Canadians working in Afghanistan, but that these risks 
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frequently materialize and the danger is real. The evidence also indicates that it is not only the 

complainant or CIDA employees who bear these risks, but also members of the Canadian Forces 

and other foreign military personnel; most notably, the helicopter teams that perform medical 

evacuations. The Covenant on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities addresses how to 

counterbalance persons with disabilities with others rights:  

Article 10 - Right to life 

States Parties reaffirm that every human being has the inherent right to life and 
shall take all necessary measures to ensure its effective enjoyment by persons with 
disabilities on an equal basis with others.  

Article 11 - Situations of risk and humanitarian emergencies 

States Parties shall take, in accordance with their obligations under international 
law, including international humanitarian law and international human rights 
law, all necessary measures to ensure the protection and safety of persons with 
disabilities in situations of risk, including situations of armed conflict, 
humanitarian emergencies and the occurrence of natural disasters. 

(Emphasis added) 

[157] In this same vein, medical services are limited and bed space must be preserved for the 

treatment of troops, injured Afghani civilians and unpredictable emergencies that impact all 

civilians posted in Afghanistan. The complainant attempted to show that the situation in 

Afghanistan was not as dangerous as the respondents claimed, and that any risks could be 

brought within an acceptable level. However, the war conditions in Afghanistan are such that 

control over the complainant’s work environment is limited at best due to the unstable conditions 

of war and the fact that CIDA relies on the military to provide security for their employees while 

in Afghanistan. Despite every military protection and precaution, many people have been hurt 

and killed in Afghanistan, attacks against military compounds occur, convoys are ambushed, and 

it has been necessary to evacuate CIDA personnel from certain locations at times. While the 

complainant argued that no CIDA employee has been kidnapped or killed, this does nothing to 
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minimize the risk or reduce the probability of it actually happening. Adding additional risks to 

the pre-existing circumstances and to the other unexpected circumstances in Afghanistan puts 

lives, aside from the complainant’s, in added jeopardy. 

[158] Everyone posted in Afghanistan accepts a level of risk to their safety. The complainant 

and the Commission argue that the level of risk for the complainant is a little higher, but could be 

brought within an acceptable level if the employer implements Dr. Beauregard’s conditions and 

allows the complainant to work without travel. They both refer to a level of reasonable safety 

and argue that the standard applied by CIDA is a level of absolute safety. I do not find CIDA to 

be applying a standard of absolute safety, which would result in not allowing any CIDA 

employee to be posted in Afghanistan considering all the risks present in the environment. I do 

find the standard to be high, but this as it should be when lives and health are at stake.  While 

military personnel risk their lives every day in Afghanistan, they assume this risk in furtherance 

of Canada’s mission in Afghanistan. It would be an unreasonable risk for them to put their lives 

in danger for the sole purpose of accommodating the complainant. In this regard, “[t]he factors 

that will support a finding of undue hardship [...] must be applied with common sense and 

flexibility” (McGill University Health Centre (Montreal General Hospital) v. Syndicat des 

employés de l’Hôpital general de Montréal, 2007 SCC 4, at para. 15). The right to life 

commands that the highest standard possible be upheld, this is in accordance with principles of 

the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR).  Any accommodation must respect the 

lives of others, lives that would be impacted by the decision to accommodate the complainant in 

Afghanistan. The argument that the military takes risks everyday is not sufficient to impose on 

those already risking their lives additional risk for the purpose of accommodating the 

complainant. 

[159] After having examined all the evidence in this case, I believe that in a stable 

environment, the complainant manages the symptoms of her condition very well. She is well 

informed about her condition and explained very clearly how she manages it. On this issue, she 

is very credible. The same cannot be said about the management of her condition in Afghanistan. 
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She testified that she mistakenly gave herself two doses of insulin, when only one was required, 

and that she forgot to measure her blood sugar level before going to bed. When asked the reason 

for this mistake, she explained that it was because she was playing cards and was distracted. I 

believe her when she says that she learned from that experience; however, I also note that she 

requested sick leave in June 2008 because dealing with HC and CIDA caused her stress and was 

affecting her condition and evidence established the nexus between the low A-1-C a type of test 

that measures her blood sugar levels and the same period where stress was present for the 

complainant. This request was written by the same doctor, her treating doctor, Dr. Arnaout that 

originally said the complainant was fit for posting in Afghanistan. I weight this information in 

the rest of all the evidence induced. The stress related to the discrimination pales in comparison 

to the high level of stress in Afghanistan. My conclusions in this regard do not change even if an 

invasive psychological stress test declared her fit in Canada. I cannot give it more weight than 

the solid evidence that CIDA put forward with an extensive description by the military on the 

conditions present in the war zone in Afghanistan. Details were given on the mission, on medical 

evacuations and the complainant did not succeed in contradicting this evidence. The evidence 

showed that even if the restrictions suggested by Dr. Beauregard were enforced, they cannot 

necessarily be respected at all times if an emergency or life-threatening situation occurs. There is 

no guarantee that the complainant would always have all the necessary equipment for insulin 

administration on her, especially in a rocket attack or an ambush. Moreover, nothing in the 

evidence showed that she would properly manage her condition in an ambush or a rocket attack, 

and it becomes even more speculative when other CIDA employees’ reactions are required to 

assist the complainant. 

[160] Based on the evidence and my reasons above, and subject to my findings regarding 

CIDA’s procedural breach of the duty to accommodate, I believe that it would constitute undue 

hardship for CIDA to have to accommodate the complainant in Afghanistan considering the risk 

to the complainant’s health and safety, and the safety of CIDA employees and those fighting the 

war in Afghanistan.  
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VII. Conclusion 

[161] The evidence indicates that it would be an undue hardship for CIDA to accommodate the 

complainant in Afghanistan. Nonetheless, CIDA has breached its procedural duty to explore all 

reasonable accommodation measures for the complainant and, as a result, a violation of 

sections 7 and 10 of the CHRA has been made out against CIDA. 

[162] For its part, HC developed the Afghanistan Guidelines, which do not reflect equality 

between all members of society. In the course of employment, the complainant suffered adverse 

differentiation on the basis of her disability by the application of the Afghanistan Guidelines. On 

this basis, HC has violated section 7(b) of the CHRA. 

[163] Therefore, both complaints are substantiated and the Tribunal will consider appropriate 

remedial action to eliminate these discriminatory practices. 

VIII. Remedies 

[164] When a complaint under sections 7 and 10 of the CHRA has been substantiated, the 

Tribunal has remedial authority to make an order under the terms of sections 53(2), 53(3) and 

53(4) of the CHRA, which sections provide as follows: 

   53. (2) If at the conclusion of the inquiry the member or panel finds that the 
complaint is substantiated, the member or panel may, subject to section 54, make 
an order against the person found to be engaging or to have engaged in the 
discriminatory practice and include in the order any of the following terms that 
the member or panel considers appropriate: 

(a) that the person cease the discriminatory practice and take measures, in 
consultation with the Commission on the general purposes of the measures, to 
redress the practice or to prevent the same or a similar practice from occurring 
in future, including 
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(i) the adoption of a special program, plan or arrangement referred to in 
subsection 16(1), or 

(ii) making an application for approval and implementing a plan under 
section 17; 

(b) that the person make available to the victim of the discriminatory practice, 
on the first reasonable occasion, the rights, opportunities or privileges that are 
being or were denied the victim as a result of the practice; 

(c) that the person compensate the victim for any or all of the wages that the 
victim was deprived of and for any expenses incurred by the victim as a result 
of the discriminatory practice; 

(d) that the person compensate the victim for any or all additional costs of 
obtaining alternative goods, services, facilities or accommodation and for any 
expenses incurred by the victim as a result of the discriminatory practice; and 

(e) that the person compensate the victim, by an amount not exceeding twenty 
thousand dollars, for any pain and suffering that the victim experienced as a 
result of the discriminatory practice. 

(3) In addition to any order under subsection (2), the member or panel may order 
the person to pay such compensation not exceeding twenty thousand dollars to the 
victim as the member or panel may determine if the member or panel finds that 
the person is engaging or has engaged in the discriminatory practice wilfully or 
recklessly. 

(4) Subject to the rules made under section 48.9, an order to pay compensation 
under this section may include an award of interest at a rate and for a period that 
the member or panel considers appropriate. 

[165] The aim of the CHRA is remedial and is “...not aimed at determining fault or punishing 

conduct” (Robichaud v. Canada (Treasury Board), [1987] 2 S.C.R. 84 at para. 13 [Robichaud]). 

Rather, the primary focus of the legislation is to “...identify and eliminate discrimination” 

(Robichaud at para. 13). The Tribunal deals with complex and emotional disputes between 

parties, which demands “...innovation and flexibility on the part of the Tribunal in fashioning 
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effective remedies and the Act is structured so as to encourage this flexibility” (Grover v. 

Canada (National Research Council - NRC) (1994), 80 F.T.R. 256 (Fed. Ct. TD) [Grover]). 

Although the Tribunal has remedial flexibility and discretion under section 53, this discretion is 

not unlimited. In the context of discussing the limit on the liability for compensation under the 

CHRA, the Federal Court of Appeal in Chopra v. Canada (Attorney General), 2007 FCA 268 

[Chopra], stated: 

The first limit is that recognized by all members of the Court in Morgan, that is, 
there must be a causal link between the discriminatory practice and the loss 
claimed. The second limit is recognized in the Act itself, namely, the discretion 
given to the Tribunal to make an order for compensation for any or all of wages 
lost as a result of the discriminatory practice. This discretion must be exercised on 
a principled basis. 

(Chopra at para. 37) 

Stated more generally:  

...orders of a remedial nature must be linked or have a nexus to the lis or subject-
matter of the complaint substantiated by the tribunal: the "four corners of the 
complaint" or "the real subject matter". The remedy must be commensurate with 
the breach. The orders also must be reasonable and the remedial discretion 
exercised in light of the evidence presented. 

(Hughes v. Elections Canada, 2010 CHRT 4 [Hughes] at para. 50) 

[166] In implementing remedial orders, the CHRC or other parties may be involved in terms of 

consultation or monitoring. The involvement of other actors recognizes that the Tribunal has an 

adjudicative role that does not translate well into the technical or task-specific aspects of the 

implementation of orders often affecting the day-to-day operations of a governmental or 

corporate respondent (see Hughes at para 51). 

[167] In consideration of these principles, the following are my reasons with regards to the 

remedies requested by the complainant and the Commission. 
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Compensation for lost bonuses and allowances 

[168] The complainant is seeking compensation pursuant to paragraph 53(2)(c) of the CHRA 

for lost bonuses and allowances for the 18 month period of the Afghanistan posting she did not 

receive. These bonuses and allowances include: a lost hostility bonus and a lost post differential 

bonus of $17,627.00 for a period of 12 months or $26,440.00 for a period of 18 months; a special 

risk premium of $10, 015.00 for a period of 12 or 18 months; a lost incidental relocation bonus 

of $4,106.00 for a period of 12 or 18 months; compensation for lost vacation travel allowance 

[allowance less hours required to be used for R&R Leave] at the PM-05 for the amount of 

$32,708.00 for 12 months for a one year posting and $49,062.00 for 18 months for a period of 6 

months and a period of one year, at the PM-06 level for the amount of $31,779.00 for 12 months 

and $47,505.00 for 18 months; compensation for lost overtime opportunities less overtime 

already earned in Canada, at the PM-05 level [$5,034 less $774 per month] for 12 months 

$38,340.00, at the PM-06 level 2 2008 [$5,682 less $774 per month] for 12 months $44,174.00, 

at the PM-06 level 3 2009 [$5,767 less $774 per month] for 18 months $66,642.00, calculated 

based on level 2 for 12 months plus level 3 for 6 months; compensation for lost rental income for 

12 months $14,400 and for 18 months $21,600; compensation for household expenses incurred 

for 12 months $5,808 and for 18 months $8,712. 

[169] CIDA has established that it would cause undue hardship for it to accommodate the 

complainant in Afghanistan. Therefore, I will not grant any amount directly linked to the posting 

in Afghanistan such as the special risk premium or the hostility bonus. The hostility bonus is 

specific to dangerous areas with the highest hardship levels and is not allocated in every 

international mission. In the present case, for the Tribunal to award the complainant 

compensation for a hostility bonus, the Tribunal must be satisfied that she was to be posted in 

Afghanistan. Since it has been established that it would have caused undue hardship to post the 

complainant in Afghanistan, any amount related to the Afghanistan posting cannot be granted. 

Section 53(2)(c) aims to compensate the victim for any expenses incurred as a result of the 

discriminatory practice. I do not find any logical explanation for claiming relocation, lost rental 
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income, household expenses, etc. The complainant did not incur these expenses. The expenses 

should be reimbursed if spent and not claimed without being incurred. This being said, I believe 

that if it were not for the adverse differential treatment that the complainant received during the 

whole medical assessment and posting process, the complainant would have obtained a position 

in another country. Although she was denied the Afghanistan posting she would have been 

suited, at the least, for a friendly country. I find that she would have had to do overtime more 

than in Canada but not as much as in Afghanistan where conditions are harsh. The complainant 

testified that there is not a lot to do in Afghanistan, so in the end, CIDA employees tend to do 

more hours of work than normal. The evidence also established that it is reasonable to assume 

she would have been at a PM-06 level because of her previous work. I will elaborate on my 

reasons in this regard under the Appointment and Deployment section of the remedies in the 

decision. I do not have sufficient material before me to quantify the average amount of overtime 

that an employee at the PM-06 level would work in a friendly country. Therefore, I will allow 

two months for parties to provide submissions on the appropriate amount and remain seized of 

the matter until this information is available. 

Compensation for pain and suffering  

[170] The complainant is claiming compensation for pain and suffering in the amount of 

$20,000 pursuant to, paragraph 53(2)(e) of the CHRA. The amount of $20,000 is the maximum 

allowed within the boundaries of CHRA under this head of damages. Moral pain and suffering is 

difficult to quantify. When someone suffers, the only person that has real knowledge of that 

particular suffering is the person who experienced it. When someone goes through pain there is 

no amount of money that can accurately compensate for that pain. Moral pain related to 

discrimination is subjective and varies from one individual to another. From the point of view of 

the person that suffered discrimination, large amounts of money should be granted to reflect 

what they have experienced and to provide them justice. No one should suffer and no amount 

can reflect this injustice. The amount allowed will never fully put the person back in the situation 

as though the discrimination never occurred, because of the subjective element of it and the 
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limits of the CHRA and of the case law. Psychological scars often take a long time to heal and 

can affect a person’s self worth. This being said, when evidence establishes pain and suffering an 

attempt to compensate for it must be made. The complainant requested sick leave because of 

how she felt at work with how CIDA and HC handled the medical assessment and 

accommodation process. She awaited answers from both respondents that never came. The 

complainant was told that the HC-MAC committee would accept the third medical opinion, but 

in the end they did not and, meanwhile, made the complainant undergo tests that kept her hopes 

up. The complainant’s hopes were shattered by the way the situation was handled by both 

respondents. She was not informed of her rights and was mislead in two ways:  (1) by being told 

that a list of countries where she could be posted would be provided; and, (2) that as soon as 

doctors in those countries provided the necessary medical information, she would receive more 

information. The information was never given and no follow up was made by the respondents. 

The complainant lost opportunities to be posted outside of Canada because of these delays. In the 

whole process, the complainant felt adversely treated because of her condition and felt her 

dignity was infringed upon. After considering previous amounts awarded by this Tribunal and all 

the evidence, I order the respondents to each pay the complainant $5,000. 

Compensation for wilful and reckless discrimination 

[171] The complainant is seeking special compensation for wilful and reckless discrimination 

in the amount of $20,000, pursuant to paragraph 53(3) of the CHRA. The complainant did not 

present any case law to support this claim nor were extensive arguments provided, but the 

evidence is sufficient to pursue the analysis on the matter. The evidence established that HC told 

the complainant they would accept the independent medical opinion whatever it may be. They 

were aware of what they said and modified their approach when the opinion was not what they 

expected. They also worded the “Absolute medical requirements’’ and admitted at the hearing 

that it was a poor choice of words that indeed could mislead someone doing an assessment. HC 

did not try to correct the wording of the guidelines when they submitted the information to 

Doctor Beauregard, nor did they give him section one of the OHAG, which says that the 
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guidelines are instructive and not mandatory. Therefore, HC knew what they were doing. On its 

part, CIDA refused to respond to the complainant’s email requesting it to exercise its 

discretionary power to post her to Afghanistan. CIDA cannot ignore the fact that no additional 

information was given to the complainant on other overseas postings. After reviewing the 

evidence and the Tribunal’s other decisions under this head of compensation, I find that in 

behaving in such a way, both respondents engaged in wilful and reckless discrimination pursuant 

to the terms of section 53(3) of the CHRA. I order the respondents to each pay the complainant 

$5,000. 

Sick leave credits 

[172] Pursuant to section 53(2)(c) of the CHRA, the complainant seeks reinstatement of sick 

leave credits totalling 55 days. The 55 days are related to the sick leave she took in the summer 

of June 2009. It corresponds to a period of time when her doctor said that the stress related to the 

discrimination and work related issues affected her blood sugar levels and her condition. The 

evidence corroborated the doctor’s recommendation. Therefore, I order the reinstatement of the 

totality of the complainant’s sick leave credits.  

Vacation day credits  

[173] The complainant is also seeking reinstatement of vacation time credits totalling 15 days 

taken in order to prepare for and attend proceedings related to her complaint. Pursuant to 

paragraph 53(2)(C) of the CHRA, I order the reinstatement of the 15 vacation day credits. 

Appointment and deployment 

[174] The complainant is seeking an appointment to a position at the EX-01 level within CIDA, 

pursuant to paragraph 53(2)(b) of the CHRA. She also seeks deployment to an operational 
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position within CIDA’s Geographic Programs Branch (GPB), pursuant to paragraph 53(2)(b) of 

the CHRA and requests to be posted to a family-friendly country of her choice. 

[175] In December of 2008, the complainant was promoted to International Development 

Program Manager of the R+A Unit, a position at the PM-06 level (she had been acting in this 

position since May of 2007). At the same time, the complainant applied for and won an acting 

assignment as the Senior Departmental Assistant in the Minister’s office, a position at the level 

of A/EX-1. The complainant resigned from her position as Acting Senior Department Assistant 

and took a short-term medical leave starting on or around June 20, 2009. On or around 

September 1, 2009, the complainant returned to her previous position as International 

Development Program Manager with the R+A Unit, where she continues to work. The 

respondents argued that there is no obligation to give a posting to the complainant since she 

already has a good position within CIDA and that she was hired at a higher position than a lot of 

CIDA employees start at. I disagree. I find if it were not for her disability she would have 

obtained a posting to Afghanistan or elsewhere because of her abilities to perform the duties 

required. CIDA never contested that she was a good employee with the abilities to succeed in 

higher positions. In fact, the evidence suggests in an email from Dave Metcalfe (Results and 

Accountability ATF CIDA) to Michael Collins they qualified her as “awesome a great resource 

and an excellent employee”.  

...perhaps we can do what we can to perhaps position her elsewhere in the Agency 
that would lead to a posting in a different location for which HC would support 
given the situation....We should try to keep her within the ATF or at least within 
the Agency  

[176] On this basis, pursuant to paragraph 53(2)(b) of the CHRA, I order CIDA to deploy the 

complainant in the GPB at the PM-06 level and to work with the complainant to post her in a 

friendly country within her top three choices where there are appropriate medical facilities and 

no medical restrictions that she will face. 
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Personnel file 

[177] The complainant requested immediate removal from her personnel file any reprimand 

related to her pursuit of this complaint, pursuant to paragraph 53(2)(b) of the CHRA. The 

evidence tendered by CIDA indicated that the reprimand was linked to the complainant’s 

behaviour at work when she sent emails and talked to more people than she needed to about the 

complaints. The evidence showed that she sometimes used a harsh tone in her emails. The 

complainant argued that she was asked to withdraw her complaint in exchange for a position. 

This allegation was not corroborated and the person in question that supposedly said this to her 

did not testify before the Tribunal. Therefore, I do not place any weight on it. If the reprimand 

was made because she made a complaint against CIDA, I would have considered it retaliation. I 

do not believe it was for this reason but rather because she made several attempts, even to the 

Minister’s office, to make her point. When asked why she made threats and bad comments 

towards some of the CIDA management team, the complainant admitted that she did not act 

rationally in those acts. Although defending one’s rights is legitimate, it has to be done within 

appropriate boundaries; if not, one has to bear the consequences. Therefore, the request is denied. 

Legal fees 

[178] The complainant is seeking compensation for legal fees in the amount of $2,712.68. In 

Canada (Attorney General) v. Mowat, 2009 FCA 309 [Mowat], the Federal Court of Appeal 

found that the CHRT has no authority to make an award of costs under the provisions of the 

CHRA. Leave to appeal to the SCC has been granted. However, based on Mowat, I do not award 

any amount for legal fees. 
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Systemic remedies 

[179] The complainant is seeking the following:  

- an order that the respondents cease their discriminatory practices against 
employees seeking postings overseas who are captured by the absolute medical ban 
contained in the policies applied by the respondents in assessing employees’ medical 
fitness for oversees postings; 
 
- an order that the respondents consult with the Commission (CHRC), in 
accordance with paragraph 53(2)(a) of the CHRA, to develop a plan to prevent further 
incidents of discrimination based on disability in the medical assessment of employees 
seeking overseas postings; and  
 
- an order that the respondents establish written policies satisfactory to Ms. Cruden 
and the Commission to address the assessment of medical suitability for overseas 
postings within six months, and that these policies include a process for individualized 
assessments of those being assessed.  
 
- Findings were made concerning the inappropriate wording of the Afghanistan 
Guidelines. The “Absolute medical requirements” create a prima facie case of 
discrimination against people living with chronic conditions and create adverse 
differential treatment when applied. Improvements are required in the medical 
assessment and posting processes to remedy this discrimination.  
 
- The Covenant on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in its Preamble section o. 
mentions: “Considering that persons with disabilities should have the opportunity to be 
actively involved in decision-making processes about policies and programmes, including 
those directly concerning them,...’’.  

[180] For these reasons, I order all of the measures outlined above in the light of the evidence 

and findings in this case. 

Amendments to HC policies and guidelines and amendments to CIDA’s policies 

[181] The evidence and findings in the present case established the fact that the Afghanistan 

Guidelines, moreover, the “Absolute medical requirements” need to be replaced to prevent any 

adverse differential treatment and to allow a case by case assessment of individuals. The 
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guidelines must be clarified to ensure that their interpretation does not lead doctors in excluding 

every person with a chronic condition. CIDA needs to ensure that employees are fully informed 

of their rights and of the complete posting process, including the medical requirements and the 

possibility for an employee to seek a third opinion in a timely fashion. The wording of the 

“Absolute medical requirements” should be changed to reflect a high medical standard for 

posting to Afghanistan, while not instituting a complete ban. Evidence showed that CIDA 

officials were not familiar with HC’s medical assessment process, or the existence of FSD9. The 

evidence tendered by the respondents did not demonstrate any real knowledge regarding 

accommodation measures, nor the CHRA. Therefore, the need for training is justified. I simply 

differ on the length of time to complete the training requested by the Commission. The 

Commission requested that the training be completed within six months. I disagree. I understand 

that it is better to set a deadline but I find that a six month delay is unreasonable for such large 

organizations like CIDA and HC. I am more inclined to say within a reasonable time frame not 

exceeding a year.  

[182] Therefore, I order the following, in accordance with what was requested by the 

Commission: 

(a) That HC amend the OHAG to remove any references in the Afghanistan 

Guidelines to “Absolute medical requirements”, and to instead adopt an approach 

that simply lists factors that are to be considered as part of an overall 

individualized assessment, with an express recognition that no single factor will 

necessarily be determinative; 
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(b) That HC amend its policies, or create a new policy, requiring that in cases where a 

treating specialist physician provides an opinion on employee fitness that differs 

from the initial opinion of the OHMO, and HC does not agree with the specialist, 

HC will: 

(i) consult with the treating specialist to explore the bases for the different 

opinions; 

(ii) if still not in agreement, promptly offer to send the employee for an 

independent medical examination by a specialist in the appropriate field; 

(iii) if dissatisfied with the independent specialist, consult with the independent 

specialist to explore the bases for the different opinions, and  

(iv) ultimately, if no resolution has been reached, place before the employing 

department full, objective and impartial descriptions of all the 

recommendations as to fitness rendered by the various physicians who 

were consulted during the process. 

(c) That HC and CIDA amend their policies, or create a new policy, to clearly state 

that the CHRA and the “duty to accommodate to the point of undue hardship” 

must be considered and applied whenever recommendations or decisions are 

being made with respect to the medical fitness of civilian employees for postings, 

regardless of where those postings might be; 
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(d) That CIDA amend its policies, or create a new policy, so as to put a mechanism in 

place to ensure that all employees who apply for postings (and for temporary duty 

assignments, in the case of Afghanistan) are first made aware: 

(i) that all successful candidates will be required to undergo a pre-deployment 

medical assessment by HC, or by another provider if CIDA deems it 

appropriate; 

(ii) that if they receive a negative assessment, they will have the right under 

FSD9 to submit a written opinion from a treating physician to HC which 

will then provide a reassessment to CIDA, possibly after offering the 

employee an opportunity to undergo an independent medical examination; 

(iii) that if HC does not request an independent medical opinion, CIDA may 

itself offer the employee an opportunity to undergo an independent 

medical examination, the results of which will be provided to HC for 

further assessment; 

(iv) ultimately, the final decision about whether to put a candidate forward for 

head of mission concurrence lies with CIDA, and not with HC or any 

other department.  

(e) That HC provide training to all managers and OHMOs involved in conducting 

pre-deployment medical assessments on: 

(i) The application of the FSD9 to their work, and 

(ii) The application of the CHRA to their work, including insofar as it relates 

to legal principles relating to the assessment of health and safety risks as a 

possible form of undue hardship; 
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(f) That CIDA provide training to all managers and staff involved in making 

decisions about postings and temporary duty assignments on: 

(i) The application of the FSD9 to their work, and 

(ii) The application of the CHRA to their work, including insofar as it relates 

to the assessment of health and safety risks as a possible form of undue 

hardship; 

[183] That the steps to be taken under subparagraphs (a) to (f), above, be completed within one 

year of the Tribunal’s decision. 

[184] I retain jurisdiction and remain seized of the matter until the parties confirm that the 

terms of this order, and of any further orders, have been implemented. 

Signed by 

Sophie Marchildon  
Administrative Judge 

OTTAWA, Ontario 
September 23, 2011 
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